

Unicentre CH-1015 Lausanne http://serval.unil.ch

Year : 2014

MECHANISMS OF CYR61 MEDIATED BREAST CANCER METASTASIS TO THE LUNG

Huang Yu-Ting

Huang Yu-Ting, 2014, MECHANISMS OF CYR61 MEDIATED BREAST CANCER METASTASIS TO THE LUNG

Originally published at : Thesis, University of Lausanne

Posted at the University of Lausanne Open Archive <u>http://serval.unil.ch</u> Document URN : urn:nbn:ch:serval-BIB_C3242D085B1E8

Droits d'auteur

L'Université de Lausanne attire expressément l'attention des utilisateurs sur le fait que tous les documents publiés dans l'Archive SERVAL sont protégés par le droit d'auteur, conformément à la loi fédérale sur le droit d'auteur et les droits voisins (LDA). A ce titre, il est indispensable d'obtenir le consentement préalable de l'auteur et/ou de l'éditeur avant toute utilisation d'une oeuvre ou d'une partie d'une oeuvre ne relevant pas d'une utilisation à des fins personnelles au sens de la LDA (art. 19, al. 1 lettre a). A défaut, tout contrevenant s'expose aux sanctions prévues par cette loi. Nous déclinons toute responsabilité en la matière.

Copyright

The University of Lausanne expressly draws the attention of users to the fact that all documents published in the SERVAL Archive are protected by copyright in accordance with federal law on copyright and similar rights (LDA). Accordingly it is indispensable to obtain prior consent from the author and/or publisher before any use of a work or part of a work for purposes other than personal use within the meaning of LDA (art. 19, para. 1 letter a). Failure to do so will expose offenders to the sanctions laid down by this law. We accept no liability in this respect.



UNIL | Université de Lausanne Faculté de biologie et de médecine

MECHANISMS OF CYR61 MEDIATED BREAST CANCER METASTASIS TO THE LUNG

Thèse de doctorat ès sciences de la vie (PhD)

présentée à la

Faculté de biologie et de médecine de l'Université de Lausanne

par

Yu-Ting Huang

Master en Zoologie de l'Université Nationale de Taiwan

Jury

Prof. Chin-Bin Eap, Président Prof. Curzio Rüegg, Directeur de thèse Prof. Daniel Speiser, représentant du programme Ph.D Prof. Tatiana Petrova, expert Prof. Gerhard Christofori, expert

Lausanne, le 7 Avril, 2014

UNIL | Université de Lausanne

Faculté de biologie

et de médecine

Ecole Doctorale

Doctorat ès sciences de la vie

Imprimatur

Vu le rapport présenté par le jury d'examen, composé de

Président	Monsieur	Prof. Chin-Bin	n Eap
Directeur de thèse	Monsieur	Prof. Curzio	Ruegg
Experts	Madame	Prof. Tatiana	Petrova
	Monsieur	Prof. Daniel	Speiser
	Monsieur	Prof. Gerhard	Christofori

le Conseil de Faculté autorise l'impression de la thèse de

Madame Yu-Ting Huang

Master of Science de National Taïwan University, Taïwan, République de Chine

intitulée

MECHANISM OF CYR61 MEDIATED BREAST CANCER METASTASIS TO THE LUNG

Lausanne, le 9 mai 2014

pour La Doyenne de la Faculté de Biologie et de Médecine

Prof. Chin-Bin Eap

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Summary	5
Résumé	6
Introduction	8
1. Cancer as a major cause of deaths	8
2. Cancer development and progression	8
3. Tumor microenvironment	9
4. Metastasis	10
4.1. Local invasion	10
4.1.1. EMT in cancer progression	11
4.2. Angiogenesis and intravasation	12
4.3. Survival in the circulation	13
4.4. Extravasation	13
4.5. Colonization	13
4.6. From micro-metastasis to macro-metastasis	14
5. Metastasis organ tropism - Seed and soil theory	15
6. The pre-metastatic niche	16
7. Linear progression model and parallel progression model	17
8. CYR61 (Cysteine-rich angiogenic inducer 61)	19
8.1. Structure of CYR61	19
8.2. Regulation of CYR61 expression	20
8.3. Cellular functions of CYR61	21
8.4. CYR61 in tumorigenesis and cancer progression	21
8.4.1. Different effects of CYR61 on different types of cano	ers22
8.4.2. CYR61 effects in experimental models	22
- Breast cancer	23
- Gastric cancer	23
- Ovarian cancer	23

- Glioma24
- Squamous cell carcinoma24
- Osteosarcoma24
- Pancreatic cancer25
- Prostate cancer25
- Colorectal cancer25
- Lung cancer25
- Endometrial cancer26
- Hepatocellular carcinoma26
8.5. CYR61 in cancer metastasis26
Aim of the study28
Results
Silencing of CYR61 expression in human breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-
231
In vivo studies of the capability of CYR61 to form metastasis:
Silencing CYR61 in primary tumors grown in pre-irradiated mammary fat pads
reduces spontaneous lung metastasis formation
CYR61 silencing in primary tumors reduces spontaneous lung metastasis
formation
CYR61 down-regulated cells are less metastatic in an experimental model of
metastasis
CYR61 facilitates breast cancer cell extravasation into lung parenchyma32
Delayed down-regulation of CYR61 expression does not prevent lung
metastasis formation
In vitro studies of cellular functions modulated by CYR61
CYR61 affects MDA-MB-231 cell spreading but has minimal effects on cell
adhesion to extracellular matrix proteins
CYR61 promotes MDA-MB-231 cell migration and transendothelial
migration
CYR61 enhances colony formation under anchorage-independent condition
but has limited effect on cell proliferation under 2D conditions

Discu	ission			•••••						•••••	38
	CYR61	pro	motes	breas	t canc	er metas	tasis to	the lur	ng by	facilita	ating
	extrava	satio	n								38
	The	first	direc	t ev	vidence	that	CYR61	promo	otes	pulmo	nary
	metasta	asis									40
	CYR61		enhand	ces	MDA-	MB-231	cell	motilit	y l	out	not
	adhesic	on									41
	CYR61	pro	motes	ancho	age-ind	dependent	t growth	and con	fer re	sistanc	e to
	anoikis.										42
	CYR61		control	led	cell	death	and	cance	ər	therape	eutic
	perspec	ctives	S								44

Figures	45
---------	----

Materials and Methods	57
Cell culture media, reagents proteins and antibodies	57
Cell culture	57
Lentivirus production and transduction	58
Real-time quantitative PCR	58
Immunoblotting	59
In vivo tumor growth and metastasis formation	60
Immunohistochemistry	60
Adhesion assay	61
Spreading assay	61
Scratch wound migration assay	62
Transwell migration assay	62
Transendothelial migration assay	62
Proliferation assay	63
Anchorage-independent cell growth assay	63

Anoikis assay	64
Statistical analysis	64
References	65
Conferences and Publications	78
Curriculum Vitae	80

Summary

CYR61 (Cysteine-rich angiogenic inducer 61) is a matricellular protein that regulates cell proliferation, adhesion, migration and cell survival through interaction with various types of integrin cell adhesion receptors. At tissue level it is implicated in the regulation of embryonic development, wound healing and angiogenesis. CYR61 has also been involved in cancer progression, however its role appears to be diverse and complex depending on the cancer type and stage. Its contribution to metastasis formation is still unclear. Previous findings reported by our laboratory demonstrated that CYR61 cooperates with $\alpha_{v}\beta_{5}$ integrin to promote invasion and metastasis of cancers growing in a pre-irradiated microenvironment.

In this work, we used an orthotopic model of breast cancer to show for the first time that silencing of CYR61 in breast cancer cells suppresses lung metastasis formation. Silencing of MDA-MB-231 reduced both local growth and lung metastasis formation of tumor cells implanted in a pre-irradiated mammary fat pad. CYR61 silencing in tumors growing in non-irradiated mammary fat pads did not impact primary tumor growth but decreased lung metastasis formation. The effect of CYR61 on spontaneous lung metastasis formation during natural cancer progression was further examined by using an experimental model of metastasis. Results from these experiments indicate that CYR61 is critically involved in promoting cancer cells entry into lung parenchyma rather than later steps of colonization. In vitro experiments showed that CYR61 promotes tumor cell spreading, migration and transendothelial migration. CYR61 also supported colony formation under anchorage-independent condition and promotes resistance to anoikis through the involvement of $\beta 1$ and $\beta 3$ integrin. These results indicate that CYR61 promotes lung metastasis of breast cancer by facilitating extravasation into lung parenchyma through enhanced motility, transendothelial migration and resistance to anoikis.

Résumé

CYR61 (Cysteine-rich angiogenic inducer 61) est une protéine matricellulaire qui régule la prolifération, l'adhérence, la migration et la survie des cellules par son interaction avec différents types de récepteurs d'adhésion cellulaire de la famille des intégrine. Au niveau des tissus, CYR61 est impliquée dans la régulation du développement embryonnaire, de la cicatrisation et de l'angiogenèse. CYR61 a également été impliquée dans le cancer, mais son rôle semble être divers et complexe en fonction du type du cancer et de son stade. Son rôle dans la formation des métastases n'est pas encore clair. Des résultats antérieurs rapportés par notre laboratoire ont montré que CYR61 coopère avec l'intégrine avß5 pour favoriser l'invasion et la métastase de tumeurs se développant dans un micro-environnement pré-irradié.

Dans ce travail, nous avons utilisé un modèle orthotopique de cancer du sein pour démontrer pour la première fois que l'extinction (silencing) du gène CYR61 dans le cancer du sein réduit la formation de métastases pulmonaires. L'extinction de CYR61 dans la lignée cellulaire de cancer du sein humain MDA-MB- 231 réduit à la fois la croissance local ainsi que la formation de métastases pulmonaires à partir de cellules implantés dans les coussinets adipeux mammaires pré-irradié. L'extinction de CYR61 dans des tumeurs grandissant dans les coussinets adipeux mammaires non irradiées n'a pas d'incidence sur la croissance tumorale primaire mais réduit la formation des métastases pulmonaires. Par la suite nous avons examiné l'effet de CYR61 sur la formation de métastases pulmonaires en utilisant un modèle expérimental de métastase. Les résultats de ces expériences indiquent que CYR61 est impliquée de manière cruciale dans les étapes précoces de la formation de métastases, plutôt que dans les étapes tardives de colonisation du poumon. Des expériences in vitro ont montré que CYR61 favorise l'étalement, la migration et la transmigration endothéliale des cellules tumorales. CYR61 favorise également la formation de colonies dans des conditions indépendante de l'ancrage et la résistance à l'anoïkis par l'engagement des intégrines β1 et β3. Ces résultats indiquent que CYR61 favorise les métastases pulmonaires du cancer du sein en facilitant

l'extravasation dans le parenchyme pulmonaire grâce à la stimulation de la motilité, de la migration transmigration endothéliale et de la résistance à l'anoïkis.

Introduction

1. Cancer as a major cause of deaths

Cancer is one of the major causes of death throughout the world. From the reports of the World Health Organization (WHO) and of the International Agency for Research on Cancer in 2008, cancer claimed 14% of adult lives aged between 30 to 70, which corresponds to about 20% of all deaths ¹. The latest GLOBOCAN 2012 report further reported an increasing incidence of cancer and deaths caused by cancer, with the numbers of 12.7 million and 7.6 million, respectively in 2008, rising to 14.1 million and 8.2 million in 2012 ².

According to this report, the percentage of death caused by cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, and chronic respiratory conditions dramatically decreased with the economical development, while death caused by cancer showed no significant reduction in high-income area. This observation calls for an urgent need to improve our current knowledge of cancer initiation and progression as well as develop novel clinical therapies.

2. Cancer development and progression

Cancer arises from normal tissues through a complex, multistage process. In 2000, six hallmark capabilities of cancer cells were proposed by Hanahan and Weinberg in order to describe comprehensively how normal cells become transformed and progressively acquire a cancerous phenotype. These hallmarks include self-dependence on growth signaling, insensitivity to anti-growth signals, unlimited replication potential, escape from cell death, induction of angiogenesis, and activation of mechanisms of local invasion and distant metastasis formation ³. These traits depict how cancer cells generate a locally growing tumor and develop the ability to migrate to secondary organs. Moreover, results from further investigations during the following decade have suggested two additional capabilities of cancer cells: reprogramming cellular metabolism and escaping from immune surveillance ⁴.

Reprogrammed cellular metabolism provides cancer cells with an alternative way to acquire energy and macromolecules required for rapid proliferation ⁵. At the same time, cancer cells also develop diverse escape mechanisms to avoid attack and clearance from immune system ^{6,7}.

Underlying these hallmarks are two enabling characteristics. First, heritable changes in DNA sequence (i.e. mutations,) epigenetic modifications and genomic instability allow cancer cells to cumulate alterations in gene expression, which in turn favor their own expansion. This is achieved by activating oncogenes, inactivating tumor suppressor genes, abrogating genome maintenance / DNA repair systems and accelerating the generation of further mutations ^{8,9}.

The second characteristic is tumor-promoting inflammation. Besides the ability to escape from detection and clearance by the immune system, cancer cells can in turn utilize the immune system to their advantage by recruiting specific immune cells to the tumor tissues, mostly innate immune cells, and educate them to their needs. These tumor-promoting immune cells provide cancer cells with communication molecules (i.e. cytokines, growth factors, chemokines), matrix proteins and matrix degrading enzymes that facilitate cancer cell growth, survival, invasion and dissemination ¹⁰⁻¹².

3. Tumor microenvironment

Besides the tumor-promoting immune inflammatory cells, there are also other types of stromal cells, which have been shown to promote cancer progression. They include cancer-associated fibroblasts, endothelial cells, pericytes, and progenitor cells as the origin of stroma cells ^{13,14}. Cancer cells and stromal cells interact reciprocally by direct physical interaction or though the release of soluble factors, matrix proteins and matrix-degrading enzymes, further modifying the whole microenvironment and promoting tumor progression.

Cumulating data indicate that cancer cells actively recruit cells from neighboring tissue or distant sites, in particular from the bone marrow, to constitute a microenvironment that favors cancer development. In turn, tumor microenvironment-derived stimuli affect cancer cells by modulating their gene expression and behavior.

4. Metastasis

Cancer cells can leave the primary tumors to form secondary tumors at distant sites, so called metastases. Compared with the bulk of cells in the primary tumor, metastatic cells have a stronger ability to migrate to and adapt to conditions present in the novel tissue environment. Metastatic cancer cells are also more resistant to traditional chemotherapy drugs, which makes it more difficult to target them ¹⁵. Eventually, metastasis is the primary cause of death for about 90% of cancer patients ¹⁶. In spite of its clinical relevance, our knowledge of metastasis formation is still incomplete. The conceptual understanding of molecular mechanisms of metastasis, as a basis for the development of novel therapeutic strategies, still needs to be improved. Metastasis, like the process of cancer progression, also develops as a multistep process (Fig.1) ¹⁷.

4.1. Local invasion

The ability to migrate and invade into surrounding tissue is a critical characteristic of the transition from a benign tumor to a malignant cancer. In general, tumor cells have to first disassemble junctional complexes between neighboring cells, digest underlying matrix substrates and connective tissues at the outer layer of the tumor mass, acquire the ability to rearrange the cytoskeleton and migrate following chemotactic gradients or mechanical flow. Several mechanisms have been discovered for cancer cells to undergo local invasion. Considering that 90% of cancers are derived from poorly motile epithelial tissues, the most prevailing model is the so-called "epithelial to mesenchymal transition" (EMT). This model describes the genetic,

morphological and functional alterations which turn tightly-bound epithelial cells into motile and more aggressive mesenchymal-like cells ¹⁸.



Figure 1. Schematic illustration of metastasis cascade. From ¹⁷

The development of metastasis could be dissected into multiple steps. With expanding primary tumor masses (a), tumor cells initiate angiogenesis (b) to enrich their supply of oxygen and nutrients. Some tumor cells acquire higher mobility, digest the surrounding matrix to start local invasion (c), and then enter into circulation through blood/lymphatic vessels (d). Disseminated tumor cells inside circulation interact with platelets and lymphocytes, and have to escape from immune surveillance and detachment-induced cell death (anoikos) (d). Tumor cells arrive at the secondary organs then penetrate the vessel wall (extravasation) (e), and adapt to the local microenvironment to eventually develop metastasis (colonization) (f).

4.1.1. EMT in cancer progression

EMT is defined as a transition process by which epithelial cells lose intercellular junctions, diminish apical-lateral polarity, repress expression of epithelial markers (i.e. E-cadherin, ZO-1), upregulate mesenchymal markers (i.e. N-cadherin, vimentin, fibronectin), reorganize cytoskeleton and acquire

spindle-shaped morphology as well as migratory ability. To date, TGF β has been recognized as the most potent molecule in orchestrating EMT ^{19,20}. Globally, many signaling pathways can contribute to EMT. They include Wnt-, Notch-, Hedgehog-, Ras-, NF κ B- dependent pathways. Many growth factors frequently utilized by cancer cells to escape from growth control or acquire malignant traits, such as invasion and metastasis, are also implicated in the regulation of EMT (i.e. EGF, FGF, HGF, IGF, PDGF) ²¹.

EMT has been originally recognized as an important step during early embryogenesis, such as gastrulation and neural crest cell migration. In adulthood, EMT may occur during tissue repair, wound healing or fibroblast generation from epithelial cells ²². During cancer progression, EMT confers to tumor cells the capability of breaking cell-cell adhesion to acquire motility. Some EMT-associated genes have been identified to contribute to intravasation and extravasation ²¹. However, it is still controversial whether EMT takes place during later stages of metastatic cascade, and whether tumor cells could really reach target organs to form metastasis with a mesenchymal phenotype. The main argument challenging this notion comes from histopathological evidence that metastases often display epithelial morphology similar to their primary tumors, and that one of the epithelial markers, cytokeratin, is often used for detecting metastatic carcinoma cells within distant organs. To solve this apparent contradiction, three models were further proposed: (1) incomplete EMT, (2) reversibility of EMT at metastatic site (i.e. mesenchymal-epithelial transition, MET), and (3) collective migration of cells retaining epithelial morphology²³. These hypotheses highlight the importance to understand epithelial plasticity and reversible transition between epithelial and mesenchymal phenotypes during metastasis.

4.2. Angiogenesis and intravasation

The concept of tumor angiogenesis is based on the observation that growing tumors can induce the formation of neo-vessel to improve the supply of oxygen and nutrients, compared to passive diffusion. Blood flow also brings diverse signaling molecules to tumors, which might trigger the cancer cells to invade through basement membrane and endothelial layer of vessel wall to penetrate into the circulation system. In addition to blood vessel systems, recent studies have also recognized the lymphatic vessel system as an alternative route for cancer cells to leave the primary tumor and to metastasize to distant organ.

4.3. Survival in the circulation

Before reaching the target organs, intravasated and circulating cancer cells have to escape from anoikis (i.e. suspension-induced cell death), mechanical damages by shear stress, and attack from the immune system. Investigations on these circulating tumor cells (CTC) are relatively rare compared to studies on the other steps of metastasis, mostly due to the limitation of detection techniques for CTCs. However, it has been shown that tumor cells in the circulation can associate with platelets and benefit from their protection from shear stress damage and immune surveillance ²⁴. Moreover, platelets also become activated through interaction with tumor cells and release growth factors or signaling molecules to induce growth pathways or to sustain EMT programs in cancer cells ^{25,26}. On the other hand, several molecular mechanisms used by cancer cells to escape from anoikis have also been proposed, including caspase-dependent intrinsic/extrinsic pathways regulated by Bcl-2 family proteins ²⁷, and a novel caspase-independent pathway mediated by the balance between Bit1 and TLE-1 ^{28,29}.

4.4. Extravasation

When reaching the target organ, circulating cancer cells have to adhere to the inner endothelial layer and then penetrate the vessel wall to reach the underlying parenchyma. Like the process of intravasation, the mechanisms adopted by cancer cells to extravasate are not yet well understood.

4.5. Colonization

In the secondary organ, there are still several critical hurdles that the extravasated cancer cells have to overcome before they could eventually develop metastases. First of all, cancer cells are residing in a new microenvironment composed of ECM proteins and stroma cells different from those at the primary site. It has been proposed that the different microenvironment might be responsible for the death of most of the disseminated cancer cells in a process that may resemble anoikis. Therefore, these cancer cells have to maintain, at least initially, their survival and selfrenewal capacity without the support from the original microenvironment. Besides evading the recognition and clearance from immune system, they also activate and differentiate immune/inflammatory cells into tumorpromoting cells. For example, bone marrow derived cells (BMDC) have now been proposed to play a supportive role at the metastatic site. The characterization of cancer-promoting type 2 macrophages (M2) and neutrophils revealed that these immune/inflammatory cells could be further educated by metastatic cancer cells to support their survival and stemness features upon dissemination. Studies demonstrated that some primary tumors can promote the recruitment of BMDC to pre-metastatic sites before the arrival of metastatic cancer cells, thereby preparing a better soil for cancer cells to seed and form metastasis ^{30,31}.

4.6. From micro-metastasis to macro-metastasis

Not all newly formed micro-metastases are able to form macro-metastases. Some micro-metastases become dormant and some eventually disappear. These dormant micro-metastases can stay latent from months to decades. How dormant cells adapt to the microenvironment and reactivate under such quiescent status is not well understood. Although genome instability is a hallmark of cancer, reactivation of dormant cells driven by genetic mutation is unlikely to occur in the absence of sustained replication ³². Therefore, it is proposed that dormant disseminated cancer cells acquire proliferative capacities through signals generated from the interaction with the

microenvironment. For instance, the matrix proteins tenascin-C and periostin, secreted by metastatic cancer cells and stromal fibroblasts, were shown to promote outgrowth of micro-metastases through Notch, Wnt and integrin pathways eventually leading to the formation of macroscopic lesions ³³⁻³⁵. In the end, these macro-metastases will become novel sources of cancer cell spreading into the circulation to form tertiary metastases or seed back to the primary tumor site ³¹.

Each step of the metastatic cascade could be potentially rate limiting during the process of metastasis formation. In fact, formation of metastasis is extremely inefficient. Results from injecting intravenously radiolabeled melanoma cells to mice showed that only 0.1% of injected cells were still alive 24 hours after injection, and less than 0.01% of the injected cells could successfully develop lung metastasis ³⁶. Another study of melanoma metastasis to liver showed that although 80% of injected cells extravasated into the liver by day 3, only 2% of the cells were able to initiate the formation of micro-metastases. On day 13, most of the micro-metastases failed to maintain cell growth and only 0.018% of injected cells could finally generate macro-metastases ^{31,37}.

5. Metastasis organ tropism - Seed and soil theory

The multistep progression of metastasis suggests that cancer metastasis is a highly selective process rather than a random event. Based on both clinical and experimental observations, it appears that some tumor types tend to metastasize to specific organs. This phenomenon has been referred to as "metastasis organ tropism". For example, breast cancer cells tend to metastasize to lung, bone, liver and, in a more advanced stage, to brain ³⁸. Bone metastasis is frequently diagnosed among prostate cancer patients ³⁹ and brain metastasis in lung cancer patients ⁴⁰. In contrast, melanoma metastatizes to multiple organs, in particular to skin, lung, brain and liver ⁴¹.

The concept of organ tropism has been originally proposed by Stephan Paget in 1889 and published as the "seed and soil" hypothesis ⁴². Based on autopsy of female breast cancer patients, he found a tendency of metastasis to seed to liver, bone, and ovary instead of spleen, which contradicted the theory that metastasis simply develops following the mechanical arrest of cancer cells in vessels based on the anatomy of the blood supply. In his theory, tumor cells behave like "seeds", which can only form metastasis if they disseminate in the appropriate "soil", standing for selected organs in this metaphor ⁴³.

To date, this theory has been widely accepted and supported by numerous experimental data. In particular, Filder and co-workers have shown that inoculating B16 melanoma cells into mice generated metastatic lesions in pulmonary and ovarian tissues engrafted into muscle, while implanted renal tissue showed no metastatic lesion ⁴⁴. Molecular mechanisms responsible for this tropism have also been unraveled. In breast cancer, the interaction between cancer-expressed chemokine receptors (CXCR4/CCR7) and distant organ-expressed chemokine ligand (CXCL12/CCL21) promotes metastasis through facilitating chemotaxis, arrest and invasion to lymph nodes and lung, respectively. In the case of melanoma metastasis, interaction between the chemokine receptors CCR10 and the chemokine CCL27 seems to play a critical role ⁴⁵.

6. The pre-metastatic niche

With the conceptual advances on tumor microenvironment, the effect of the stroma on metastasis formation in secondary lesion has also been highlighted. It is proposed that tumors are able to modify tissue components in distant organ to create a more metastasis-supportive microenvironment before disseminated tumor cells (DTCs) physically arrive at the site of metastasis. Kaplan et al. showed that tumor cells could prepare such premetastatic niche in advance by activating the expression of fibronectin at the secondary site and directing VEGFR1⁺/VLA4⁺ BMDCs toward this location, thereby determined which organ would be colonized by metastasis, in this

case the lung ⁴⁶. Moreover, S1PR1-STAT3 signaling is also crucial for tumorpromoting myeloid cells to mobilize to and to colonize the prospective metastatic site. This signaling cascade could further regulate proliferation and survival of other metastasis-promoting stroma cells ⁴⁷.

In addition, ECM remodeling enzymes are also conditioned by tumor or "activated" stroma cells. Lysyl oxidase (LOX) released by hypoxic breast cancer cells was shown to accumulate at pre-metastatic niche and crosslink collagen in order to facilitate the entry for tumor-promoting myeloid cells ⁴⁸. Endothelial cells, MAC1 (CD11b)⁺ macrophages and VEGFR1⁺ BMDCs in lung facilitate lung metastasis formation through the expression of matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9), which could process the ECM and release growth factors and chemokines in the lung microenvironment. ^{46,49}.

7. Linear progression model and parallel progression model

It is generally accepted that the acquisition of metastatic traits and capabilities requires additional genetic alterations beyond those responsible for malignant cellular transformation ¹⁵. Many models have been proposed to describe the development of genetic changes during tumor progression toward metastasis formation ³⁸. These models can be reduced into 2 fundamental models: the linear progression and parallel progression models (Fig. 2) ³².

As a prevailing model, linear progression model describes metastasis as the end product of the sequential accumulation of genetic and epigenetic alterations during primary tumor development. Therefore, metastasis inherits malignant traits from primary tumor and the prognosis and targeting therapies are selected based on the analysis of the primary tumor ³². This model also predicts that metastasis is a rather late event during natural tumor development and the risk of its occurrence correlates with primary tumor size.

However, the detection of disseminated tumor cells (DTCs) in ectopic sites during early tumor progression and the advent of whole genome analysis of

single tumor cells have suggested a second theory of metastasis - the parallel progression model. In this model, tumor cells escape from the primary tumor before they acquire full oncogenic capacities and further gather malignant hallmarks upon dissemination independently of primary tumor evolution ^{32,50}. Analysis of paired DTCs and primary tumor from breast, prostate and esophagus cancer patients showed that DTCs have less or different genetic aberrations than primary tumor cells ⁵¹⁻⁵³. This discordance also exists among DTCs isolated from different sites. Divergence of oncogenic mutation sites between primary tumors and metastases, including KRAS and EGFR, further support this model of parallel progression ³². According to this notion, therapeutic strategies should be reconsidered. Besides the targeting therapy selected based on primary tumor subtype, alternative combined therapies may be adopted depending on the genetic alterations of DTCs, since these early disseminated tumor cells may already develop different survival strategies within the secondary microenvironment compared to primary tumors ³². Such approach would require a systematic analysis of DTCs (Fig.2).



of manifest metastasis

Figure 2. Clinical therapeutic strategies depending on different progression models. From ³².

(A) In linear progression model, it is hypothesized that disseminated tumor cells (DTCs) and metastatic cell colonies are generated from the most aggressive clones among the primary tumors and disseminate during late stages of cancer progression. Additional genetic mutations are not necessary to develop metastasis. Therefore, the analysis of primary tumor is sufficient for choosing therapies targeting metastases.

(B) From the parallel progression theory, DTCs are considered to leave the primary tumor and form metastasis during early stages of tumor development. In this case these tumor cells could gather distinct mutations in parallel of primary tumor progression. On the basis of independent progression, additional analysis on both DTCs and metastatic colonies may be necessary in order to select the most appropriate therapies for treating metastases.

Regardless of the progression models, high genomic instability and mutations occurrence allow cancer cells to keep their diversity among the whole population as well as the plural and dynamic interactions within the microenvironment. Therefore, more investigations still need to be conducted to unravel the mode of progression of cancer metastasis as well as the role of the microenvironment.

8. CYR61 (Cysteine-rich angiogenic inducer 61)

8.1. Structure of CYR61

CYR61 (Cysteine-rich angiogenic inducer 61) was first identified as an immediate-early gene induced by growth factor stimulation ⁵⁴. CYR61 belongs to the CCN (<u>CYR61</u>, <u>CTGF</u> and <u>NOV</u>) family of matricellular proteins and shares structural homology with other family members. There are six members in the CCN family: CYR61 (CCN1), connective tissue growth factor (CTGF, CCN2), nephroblastoma overexpressed protein (NOV; CCN3), and Wnt-inducible and secreted protein-1-3 (WISP-1-3; CCN4-6) ^{55,56}.

CYR61 consists of 381 amino acids with an N-terminal signal peptide for secretion ⁵⁴. Following the signal peptide are four conserved domains homologous to insulin-like growth factor-binding protein (IGFBP), von Willebrand factor type C repeats (VWC), thrompospondin type 1 repeat (TSP), and a carboxyl-terminal (CT) domain containing a cysteine knot motif ⁵⁵. Among the four domains, VWC, TSP and CT homology domains have been described to contain integrin binding sites (Fig. 3) ⁵⁷.



Figure 3. Schematic structure of CCN proteins. From ⁵⁷.

SP: N-terminal secretory signal peptide; IGFBP: insulin-like growth factor-binding protein; VWC: von Willebrand factor type C repeat; TSP: thrompospondin type 1 repeat; CT: carboxyl terminal domain containing a cysteine-knot motif (absent in CCN5); HSPG: heparin sulfate proteoglycan. Black and hatched bars indicate integrin or HSPG binding sites. Binding integrins are indicated below.

8.2. Regulation of CYR61 expression

As an immediate-early gene, the expression of CYR61 RNA is activated within minutes of serum stimulation and lasts until several hours ⁵⁸. Transcription of these immediate-early genes does not require *de novo* protein synthesis, and could therefore respond to external stimulation within a

short time ⁵⁴. Expression of CYR61 is regulated by a broad range of stimuli, including: growth factors (i.e. PDGF, FGF) ⁵⁴, inflammatory cytokines (i.e. IL-1 β , TNF α) ⁵⁹, phospholipids (i.e. S1P, LPA) ^{60,61}, TGF β ⁶², phorbol ester 12-Otetradecanoyphorbol-13-acetate ⁵⁴, thrombin ⁶³, estrogen ⁶⁴, prostaglandin E2 ⁵⁹, vitamin D3 ⁶⁵, angiotensin II ⁶⁶ and even UV light and mechanical forces ^{67,68}, implying diversified roles of CYR61 among cell-environment interactions ⁶⁹.

8.3. Cellular functions of CYR61

Several integrins have been reported to interact with CYR61, such as $\alpha_2\beta_1$, $\alpha_6\beta_1$, $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_1$, $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_3$, $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_5$. In addition, CYR61 also binds to cell surface heparin sulfate proteoglycans (HSPG)⁷⁰. It is generally considered that CYR61 modulates cellular functions by binding to different integrins in different cell types. For example, CYR61 enhances endothelial cell adhesion through interaction with $\alpha_v \beta_3$ integrin ⁷¹, and also mediates adhesion of fibroblasts and smooth muscle cells through $\alpha_6\beta_1$ and HSPG ^{72,73}, platelets through $\alpha_{2b}\beta_3$ ⁷⁴, monocytes and macrophages through $\alpha_M\beta_2$ 75,76 . In addition, by interacting with different integrins, CYR61 was shown to elicit distinct cellular responses in the same cell type. In fibroblasts, CYR61 regulates cell adhesion, senescence and apoptosis through $\alpha_6\beta_1$ and HSPG ^{72,77-79}, migration through $\alpha_{v}\beta_{5}$ ⁸⁰, proliferation through $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ ⁸⁰; while in activated endothelial cells, $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ integrin mediates most of the CYR61 cellular functions including cell adhesion, migration, survival and tube formation ^{71,81,82}. All these investigations strongly suggest that the cellular functions of CYR61 depend on the expression profile of cell surface receptors that present in diverse cell types within distinct contexts. Such complexity also renders CYR61 a regulatory role in different physiological events, such as embryonic development, chondrogenesis, angiogenesis, wound healing, fibrosis and cancer progression ^{55,69,83}.

8.4. CYR61 in tumorigenesis and cancer progression

Studies in different cancers also present diversified roles of CYR61 during cancer progression.

8.4.1. Different effects of CYR61 on different types of cancer

Aberrant up-regulation of CYR61 mRNA is found in 39% of breast tumor samples and is associated with tumor size, more advanced stages and lymph node involvement ⁸⁴. Another study using immunohistochemical staining on breast cancer tissue arrays confirmed the correlation between CYR61 protein expression and those clinical factors ⁸⁵. Elevated CYR61 expression was found from the early proliferative step and was kept throughout the whole progression process ⁸⁶.

Similarly, in gastric cancer it was proposed that high CYR61 expression level correlated with tumor grade, lymph node metastasis and recurrence ⁸⁷. In ovarian cancer, glioma, squamous cell carcinoma, osteosarcoma and pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma, overexpression of CYR61 was found and correlated with tumor grade or survival of patients ⁸⁸⁻⁹⁵. Higher level of CYR61 was also found in prostate cancer tissue compared to paired normal tissue around cancer lesion ⁹⁶. However, CYR61 expression also correlated with less recurrence for patients with radical prostatectomy ⁹⁷.

For colorectal cancer, higher expression of CYR61 was found during cancer initiation and development, and was reduced in more advanced stage ⁹⁸.

On the other hand, CYR61 plays a tumor-suppressive role in non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) ^{99,100}. The expression level was downregulated following cancer progression, and was correlated with more advanced stage, poor prognosis and poor survival rate of patients and ¹⁰⁰⁻¹⁰². Controversial correlation were proposed in endometrial cancer and hepatocellular carcinoma ¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁶.

8.4.2. CYR61 effects from experimental models

- Breast cancer

Diverse cellular effects of CYR61 were also reported from cell-based functional experiments. In breast cancer cell lines, CYR61 level is significantly elevated in more malignant cells (i.e. MDA-MB-231, HS578T) among the others ^{84,107}. Ectopic expression of CYR61 caused estrogen-independent growth of the estrogen-dependent beast cancer cell line MCF-7 ¹⁰⁸. MCF-7 cells with stable CYR61 expression acquired enhanced the ability to form colonies under anchorage-independent conditions and promoted the development of vascularized tumors in nude mice through the activation of $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ integrin ^{108,109}, indicating the promoting role of CYR61 in tumorigenesis. In addition, CYR61 protected cells from apoptosis induced by various anticancer drugs through integrin $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ -mediated ERK1/2-MAPK pathway and NF- κ B-mediated upregulation of XIAP (inhibitor of apoptosis protein) expression ^{110,111}. Experiment in which selected domains of CYR61 were deleted, demonstrated critical roles for the second and fourth modules in migration and invasion mediated by CYR61 ⁸⁶.

- Gastric cancer

In gastric cancer, CYR61 promoted cancer cell migration and invasion through integrin $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_{3}/NF$ - κ B/COX2 and HIF1- α /PAI-1 pathways ^{87,112}. CYR61 also up-regulated the expression of CXCR1/CXCR2 through integrin $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_{3}/Src/PI3K/AKT$ pathway to facilitate transendothelial migration and intravasation of gastric cancer cells ¹¹³. Through integrin $\alpha_{2}\beta_{1}$, CYR61 promoted dissemination and nodule formation of gastric cancer cells in the peritoneal cavity of mice ¹¹⁴.

- Ovarian cancer

In ovarian cancer cell lines, CYR61 overexpression promoted cell proliferation and resistance to the anti-cancer drug cisplatin ⁸⁸. The chemoresistance is achieved by inhibiting caspase 3 activity ¹¹⁵. In addition, CYR61 also confers

resistance to apoptosis induced by carboplatin, a cisplatin analogue, by regulating the expression of Bcl-2 family proteins, NF- κ B, and p53 through the activation of the AKT pathway ¹¹⁶.

- Glioma

In glioma, CYR61 acts as a downstream mediator of GPCR signaling pathways, including thrombin receptor/RhoA-induced cell proliferation, and S1PR-mediated cell invasion 63,117 . CYR61 was also required for HGF-regulated cell growth and migration 90 . Overexpression of CYR61 promotes cell growth through PI3K/AKT-induced GSK3 β phosphorylation and the β -catenin/TCF/Lef pathway, and generated larger and more vascularized tumors 89 .

- Squamous cell carcinoma

Ectopic expression of CYR61 in human oral squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) enhanced cell growth, cell motility and *in vivo* tumor development ⁹². By using blocking antibodies and chemical inhibitors, Chuang *et al.* showed that CYR61-improved cell migration was mediated through integrin $(\alpha_v\beta_3/\alpha_6\beta_1)/FAK/ERK$ and NF- κ B-induced expression of MMP-3 ¹¹⁸. Interestingly, secreted CYR61 accelerated SCC collective cell migration and invasion through both autocrine and paracrine routes, providing a model of invasive sheet formation at the tumor border ¹¹⁹.

- Osteosarcoma

CYR61 expression was found correlated with tumor grade in human osteosarcoma. Consistently, *in vitro* apoptosis, migration, invasion and *in vivo* metastasis were also related to CYR61 expression levels. It is noteworthy that its contribution to enhanced metastasis was mainly due to increased size of metastatic nodules ^{95,120}. Recently, an intracellular binding protein of CYR61, Caprin-1, was identified in cytoplasmic stress granules. Overexpression of

Caprin-1 resulted in enhanced cell growth, inhibition of apoptosis, increased *in vivo* tumor growth and lung metastasis ¹²¹. However, it is still not clear whether CYR61 cooperates with Caprin-1 during tumor progression.

- Pancreatic cancer

Haque *et al.* showed that CYR61 enhanced cell growth, cell migration and tumorigenicity of pancreatic cancer cell lines by promoting EMT and stemness ⁹⁴. Through the interaction with integrin $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$, CYR61 activated Notch-1 signaling and inhibited degradation of Notch intracellular domain, thereby trans-activated Sonic Hedgehog (SHh) pathway and enhancing cell migration ¹²².

- Prostate cancer

Like in breast cancer cell lines, high level of CYR61 was found in PC3 and Du145 compared to the less aggressive cell lines LnCap and 22RV1, consistent with the observations in human prostate cancer ^{96,123}. CYR61 supported cell proliferation, colony formation in soft agar and subcutaneous tumor growth of prostate cancer, and sensitized cells to TRAIL-elicited apoptosis through PKC activation ^{123,124}. CYR61 promoted cell migration by regulating Rac1 and focal adhesion formation, and conferred capability to form metastatic lesions in lung ¹²³.

- Colorectal cancer

By modulating expression level in colon cancer cell line, CYR61 was shown to regulate cell invasion and lung metastasis formation through cooperation with integrin $\alpha_v \beta_5$ ¹²⁵.

- Lung cancer

Besides the tumor-promoting role observed in most types of cancer, CYR61 was also shown to act as a tumor suppressor in lung cancer. The suppressive mechanism of CYR61 to tumor growth *in vitro* and *in vivo* involves β -catenin/c-Myc/ p53-regulated cell cycle arrest ^{99,126}. However, the role of CYR61 in other cellular functions was not addressed.

- Endometrial cancer

Although Chien *et al.* showed that CYR61 expression suppress tumor growth through expression of pro-apoptoitc proteins and elevated caspase-3 activity, there was another report claiming that CYR61 expression, together with lymph node metastasis, could be used to categorize cancer patients and predict 5-year survival rate. Therefore, more investigations need to be done to confirm the role of CYR61 in endometrial cancer ^{103,104}.

- Hepatocellular carcinoma

The role of CYR61 in hepatocellular carcinoma is full of controversy from both clinical and laboratorial data. While Feng *et al.* showed that expression of CYR61 reduced cell growth rate through p53 regulation ¹⁰⁶, increased cell adhesion and slowed down cell migration and invasion, another report suggested a growth promoting role of CYR61 both *in vitro* and *in vivo* ¹⁰⁵.

8.5. CYR61 in cancer metastasis

Among all the reports about CYR61 in different types of cancer, there are only a few investigations about the role of CYR61 during metastasis development. In most of studies, the pro-metastatic ability was proposed based on the ability of CYR61 to enhance invasion *in vitro*. One study based on the orthotopic intratibial injection of osteosarcoma cells demonstrated enhanced spontaneous lung metastasis formation by CYR61-overexpressing cells ⁹⁵. Another study reported that a monoclonal CYR61 antibody could block lymph

node metastasis in a footpad tumor inoculation model ¹²⁷. By injecting tumor cells through the tail vein, Sun *et al.* demonstrated that overexpression of CYR61 enhanced prostate cancer cell metastasis while downregulation of CYR61 suppressed the growth of metastatic foci in bone, lung and the peritoneal cavity ¹²³.

We have previously reported that tumors growing in a pre-irradiated stroma were selected for tumor cell variants with stronger invasive and metastatic abilities compared to tumors growing in a non-irradiated environment. This effect was associated with the development of strong tumor hypoxia secondary to radiation-impaired angiogenesis. CYR61 was upregulated in invasive and metastatic cells, and was found to contribute to invasion and metastasis through cooperation with $\alpha_{v}\beta_{5}$ integrin ¹²⁵. However, the detailed regulatory mechanism by which CYR61 promotes metastasis was not addressed.

Aim of the study

The aim of my thesis work was to investigate the role of CYR61 in breast cancer metastasis formation and to unravel the possible cellular and molecular mechanisms involved.

The rationale for the study were, firstly, the previous observation of the laboratory that CYR61 promotes invasion and metastasis of cancers growing in a pre-irradiated microenvironment and, secondly, the shorter disease free and overall survival of breast cancer patients expressing elevated levels of CYR61 in their primary tumors.

To address this question I have used a combination of *in vivo* and *in vitro* cellular and molecular approaches, in particular an orthotropic model of metastatic breast cancer.

Results

Silencing of CYR61 expression in human breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231

To investigate the role of CYR61 in breast cancer metastasis, we first analyzed CYR61 expression level in four human breast cell lines: MCF7, MCF10A, MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-468. Among the four cell lines, MCF10A is a cell line isolated from a fibrocystic patient and has no tumorigenic ability. MCF7, MDA-MB-468 and MDA-MB-231 are tumorigenic, but only MDA-MB-231 efficiently forms metastasis and has therefore been frequently used for the study of metastasis development in breast cancer.

Consistent with other studies, we found that MDA-MB-231 showed the highest CYR61 protein level among all tested cells lines (Fig. 1A). Therefore, we knocked down CYR61 expression in MDA-MB-231 cells by stable shRNA expression (Fig. 1B). To further consolidate our results, we established additional MDA-MB-231 cell lines with silenced CYR61 expression by using an inducible shRNA system. Two different sequences of shRNAs targeting CYR61 were tested and the combination of these 2 shRNAs was then used to obtain the highest silencing efficiency. After puromycin selection, resistant cells were treated with 2µg/mL of doxocyclin (Dox) to induce the expression of shRNA. Time course induction experiments were done in order to characterize and validate the silencing efficiency (Fig. 1C). Total RNA was extracted from MDA-MB-231 cells at different time points and the level of CYR61 mRNA following Dox treatment was determined by gPCR (Fig. 1C). CYR61 mRNA level started to decrease 1 day after initiation of treatment compared with non-silencing control (NS), and reached the lowest values from the 3rd day of Dox treatment on. The level of CYR61 protein started to show a dramatic decrease from Day 3 on upon Dox treatment (Fig. 1D). The silencing effects of both constitutive and inducible shRNA systems were maintained for at least few months (data not shown).

In vivo studies of the capability of CYR61 to form metastasis:

Silencing CYR61 in primary tumors grown in pre-irradiated mammary fat pads reduces spontaneous lung metastasis formation

We have previously reported that tumors growing subcutaneously in preirradiated stroma express higher level of CYR61 compared to tumors growing in normal, non-irradiated stroma and that are more metastatic. We then showed that CYR61 is directly involved in enhanced metastasis formation of tumors growing in a pre-irradiated stroma ¹²⁵. To better mimicking the tumor microenvironment and to mirror a clinically-relevant condition, we used an orthotopic model of breast cancer and injected NS and CYR61 knockdown (KD) MDA-MB-231 cells into pre-irradiated mammary fat pads (MFP) of immune deficient NSG mice. One month after injection, mice were euthanatized and the primary tumors and lungs were fixed and embedded in paraffin for section (Fig. 2A). Immunohistochemical staining of human vimentin was used to determine the formation of metastasis in lung (Fig. 2B).

Consistent with our previous findings, CYR61 expressing cells developed more metastatic colonies in lung (Fig. 2B, quantification in Fig. 2D). With CYR61 expression, NS cells formed bigger tumor masses than in the CYR61 KD group (Fig. 2C). Moreover, bigger metastases were found in the lung sections of NS group of mice (Fig. 2B). The results suggest that CYR61 provides survival advantages for cancer cells growing in pre-irradiated orthotopic microenvironment and increased ability to metastasize to the lung.

CYR61 silencing in primary tumors reduces spontaneous lung metastasis formation

These results raised the question of whether CYR61 might also promote metastasis formation during the natural course of breast cancer progression. To address this question we orthotopically injected NS and CYR61

knockdown (KD) MDA-MB-231 cells into non-irradiated MFP of immune deficient NSG mice to generate primary tumors that spontaneously metastasize to the lung. One month after injection, mice were euthanatized and the primary tumors and lungs were fixed and embedded in paraffin for sectioning (Fig. 3A). Immunohistochemical staining of CYR61 in primary tumors confirmed the efficiency of knockdown *in vivo* (Fig. 3B). Human vimentin staining was used to determine the formation of metastasis in lung (Fig. 3D).

Although CYR61 was reported to promote cell proliferation and tumor growth in some experimental models as well as in our irradiation model, the size of primary tumors showed no difference between NS and KD groups (Fig. 3C). However, mice in the NS group developed significantly more metastasis colonies in the lung as detected by quantification of human vimentin staining (Fig. 3D, in Fig. 3E). The metastasis index, which reflects metastasis formation relative to primary tumor size, further confirmed that CYR61 KD cells lost partially their ability to form spontaneous lung metastasis (Fig. 3E).

CYR61 down-regulated cells are less metastatic in an experimental model of metastasis

The development of distant organ metastasis can be dissected into various steps: local invasion and escape from the primary site, entry into the blood circulation, survival in suspension and escape from immune surveillance, extravasation into distant organ, adaption to the new microenvironment and colonization to develop macrometastasis. To understand which one of these steps depends on CYR61, we injected tumor cells into the tail vein to form experimental metastasis, thereby bypassing the need for primary tumor formation, local invasion and intravasation.

Twenty-eight days after tail vein injection of tumor cells, mice were euthanatized and lungs were fixed and embedded in paraffin for sectioning (Fig. 4A). Consistent with the orthotopic injection model, significantly more

lung metastases were observed in the NS group of mice compared with the KD group (Fig. 4B, quantification in Fig. 4C). Collectively, results from both spontaneous metastasis and experimental metastasis models indicate that CYR61 has limited effect on primary tumor growth under normal condition, but promotes breast cancer metastasis to lung. These experiments also indicate that CYR61 facilitates later stages of metastasis formation - survival in circulation, extravasation, or colonization in lung.

CYR61 facilitates breast cancer cell extravasation into lung parenchyma

In order to identify if CYR61 affects cancer cell extravasation into lung parenchyma or the successive colonization step in the new microenvironment, we conducted a short-term tail vein injection experiment, where mice were sacrificed 24 hours after injection. Half-million of NS or KD cells labeled with Green Cell Tracker were injected into tail vein of NSG mice. Twenty-four hours after injection, mice were anesthetized and perfused with 2%PFA/PBS to wash away the cancer cells remained in circulation (Fig. 5A).

From the whole lung image taken under fluorescent microscope, we found that significantly more cancer cells were retained in lungs of the NS group of mice compared with KD cell-injected mice (Fig. 5B). The same result was obtained when we sectioned the lungs to count cancer cell colonies in lung (Fig. 5C, quantification in Fig. 5D). These results suggest that CYR61 facilitates breast cancer cell extravasation into lung parenchyma during the fist 24-hour period after injection, and thereby affected lung metastasis formation.

Delayed down-regulation of CYR61 expression does not prevent lung metastasis formation

To further support the finding that CYR61 promoted lung metastasis formation by facilitating the extravasation step, we took advantage of the inducible shRNA knockdown system and designed an experiment whereby CYR61 down-regulation *in vivo* was induced 24 hours upon tumor cell injection, a time point when most tumor cells have already entered the lung parenchyma.

Half-million of MDA-MB-231 cells expressing NS or CYR61 shRNA plasmid were injected into NSG mice through the tail vein. By the time of injection, these cancer cells were not yet treated with Dox and the shRNA was not induced. Twenty-four hours after injection, both groups of mice were fed with Dox water to induce the expression of shRNA, and Dox treatment was continued until the mice were sacrificed. Twenty-four days after injection, mice were euthanatized and the lungs were fixed and embedded in paraffin for sectioning (Fig. 6A). Total colony numbers of lung metastasis were counted, and the result showed that delayed downregulation of CYR61 did not impinge on lung metastasis formation (Fig. 6B, quantification in Fig. 6C).

Overall, these *in vivo* data indicate that the expression of CYR61 promotes lung metastasis of breast cancer cells though an effect occurring within the fist 24 hours following their injection into the blood, most likely involving facilitatied tumor cell extravasation into the lung parenchyma.

In vitro studies of cellular functions modulated by CYR61:

To extravasate into secondary organs, cancer cells have to adhere first to the endothelium and then transmigrate through the vessel wall, starting with the endothelial barrier. At the same time, cancer cells have to escape from cell death induced by loss of cell-matrix adhesion signals (anoikis) before they could successfully reach the proper matrix in the new microenvironment.

To further dissect which of these steps are promoted by CYR61 we did *in vitro* validation experiments to analyze the effect of CYR61 on various cellular functions, including cell adhesion, spreading, migration, transendothelial migration, proliferation and colony formation under anchorage-independent condition.
CYR61 affects MDA-MB-231 cell spreading but has minimal effects on cell adhesion to extracellular matrix proteins

Non-silencing (NS) and CYR61 KD cells were trypsinized and plated in matrix-pre-coated 96-well plates for adhesion for 15 minutes, 30 minutes, 45 minutes and 1 hour. Although in some previous publications, CYR61 was described to enhance cell adhesion, we found only limited effect of CYR61 silencing on adhesion. Both cell lines efficiently adhered to collagen I and fibronectin, and cell adhesion reached plateau already in 15 minutes for cells plated on higher matrix concentration (Fig. 7A). Although it seems that NS cells adhere more efficiently to collagen I and fibronectin, differences between the two cell lines were minimal with a tendency of NS cells to adhere better to laminin than KD cells. Overall, CYR61 induced only limited adhesion advantage on adhesion to extracellular matrix, suggesting that this might not be a main mechanism responsible for cancer cell extravasation *in vivo*.

In addition, we also analyzed the spreading ability of both cell lines on tissue culture plates. Cells were seeded on plates in serum-free medium for up to 24 hours. Four hours after plating, NS cells started to extend their protrusions and spread, and this phenomenon became more evident at later time points (Fig. 7B). In contrast, CYR61 silenced cells had a clearly retarded spreading, still observable at 24 hours after plating.

CYR61 promotes MDA-MB-231 cell migration and transendothelial migration

As cell spreading is a considered as a surrogate of cell migration, we performed migration assays to study the effect of CYR61 on cellular mobility, including scratch wound assay, transwell migration and transendothelial migration.

Both NS and KD cells were cultured in complete medium until they reached 100% confluence. Scratches with identical width were made using pipet tips and the media was replaced immediately thereafter in order to remove floating cells. The scratched areas were photographed every hour by timelapse microscopy to monitor cell migration and wound closure (Fig. 8A). The distance between two edges of the scratch was determined and migration velocity was calculated (Fig. 8B). Total 7 spots from 3 different scratches for each cell line were recorded. As the result showed in Figure 8B, NS cells migrated significantly faster than CYR61 KD cells.

To validate the result from the scratch wound assay, we conducted another migration assay by using the Transwell system. Forty thousand cells were seeded in the upper chamber of Transwell inserts and were allowed to migrate to the bottom part for 8 hours. At the end of the experiment, cells that remained in the upper part of the insert were carefully removed with cotton swabs. Cells that migrated to the other side of insert membrane were fixed and stained with crystal violet (Fig. 8C). Three areas per insert were chosen randomly and photos from total 9 areas were used to quantify numbers of migrated cells (Fig. 8D). The results demonstrated that NS cells have stronger migratory ability than CYR61 KD cells, consistent with the results from scratch assay.

Since extravasation across the vessel wall also implicates a transmigration step through the endothelial layer, we tested the ability of cancer cells to migrate through confluent layer of endothelial cells *in vitro*. Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) were grown on the upper part of the Transwell membrane until they reached 100% confluence. Then, NS and CYR61 KD cells expressing RFP were seeded into the upper chamber and were allowed to migrate for 12 hours. At the end of the experiment, cells remained in the upper compartment were carefully removed with cotton swabs. Cells that migrated through the endothelial monolayer and reached the bottom side of the insert membrane were fixed and photographed by fluorescent microscopy (Fig. 8E). Nine areas per insert were chosen randomly and photographs from a total of 27 areas were used to quantify the percentage of area occupied by

migrated cells (Fig. 8F). Results from these experiments demonstrated that NS cells migrated more efficiently across the endothelial monolayer compared to silenced cells.

CYR61 enhances colony formation under anchorage-independent condition but has limited effect on cell proliferation under 2D conditions

When travelling in the blood from the primary tumor to a distant organ, tumor cells do so in the absence of adhesion to extracellular matrices. Lack of cell-matrix interaction triggers integrin-dependent death-promoting signals in normally adherent cells, an event known as anoikis.

To test the ability of NS and CYR61 KD MDA-MB-231 cells to survive and grow under anchorage-independent conditions, we suspended the cancer cells in soft agar and let them grow to form colonies. After two weeks, random areas were photographed (Fig. 9A) and both number and the size of colony formed by each cell line were measured (Fig. 9B). The result showed that NS cells formed significantly more and larger colonies compared to CYR61 KD cells.

However, both cell lines grew to similar rates under normal, 2D culture conditions (Fig. 9C), suggesting that CYR61 protects cells under conditions of limited or absent cell adhesion and could therefore supports cell growth under anchorage-independent conditions.

Expression of CYR61 protects cancer cells in suspension from apoptosis

To collect further evidence whether CYR61 conferred resistance to anoikis, we kept the MDA-MB-231 cells in suspension and then stained them with Annexin V and near-IR dead cell marker dye. Flow cytometry analysis was

conducted to identify apoptotic (Annexin V positive) from viable (double negative) cell populations.

The suspension time course clearly showed that there was an increasing fraction of apoptotic MDA-MB-231 cells among the CYR61 KD population, while in NS population the fraction of apoptotic cells remained low and steady throughout the whole period of the experiment (Fig. 10A-B).

CYR61 protects cancer cells from apoptosis through $\beta 1/\beta 3$ integrin

Previous studies have shown that CYR61 interacts with various integrins to activate cellular signaling pathways. To investigate whether CYR61 prevented anoikis through engagement of integrins, we first analyzed the surface level of CYR61 (Fig. 10C) and different integrin subunits (Fig. 10D). We confirmed that CYR61 shRNA decreased surface level of CYR61 protein without alternating surface level of integrins.

Then, we treated both cell populations with functional antibodies to specifically block or activate integrins. Addition of a functional blocking anti- β 1 integrin antibody in NS cells increased the fraction of apoptotic cells. In contrast, addition of a β 3 integrin activating antibody partially rescued apoptosis in CYR61 KD cells (Fig. 10E). These observations suggest that the ability of CYR61 to confer resistance of breast cancer cells to anoikis depends on β 1 and β 3 integrins.

Discussion

CYR61 promotes breast cancer metastasis to the lung by facilitating extravasation

CYR61 was shown to regulate various cellular functions including cell proliferation, adhesion, and migration. At tissue level, CYR61 was reported to contribute to the development of the vascular system, chondrogenesis, T cell production in thymus, wound healing, fibrosis and cancer progression 70,128-¹³³. Clinical studies on different types of cancer clearly revealed the complex role of CYR61 in cancer biology. CYR61 promoted cancer progression in most types of cancer, including breast, gastric, ovarian cancer, glioma, squamous cell carcinoma. osteosarcoma and pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. In prostate and colorectal cancers, CYR61 is more related to tumor initiation, since the expression level decreased in more advanced stages. On the contrary, a tumor-suppressing role was proposed in non-small cell lung cancer, endometrial cancer and hepatocellular carcinoma. The apparent dual role of CYR61 (i.e. tumor promotion vs tumor suppression) was confirmed by many cell-based experiments. It was suggested that the complexity is due to the heterogeneous cellular context in different cell types, including binding to different cell surface receptors, in particular integrins, and activation of diverse signaling pathways in different cell types. Importantly, most of the published experimental reports investigating the in vivo role of CYR61 during cancer progression focused on primary tumor development, especially primary tumor growth, but did not address the role of CYR61 on metastasis formation.

Considering that metastasis is responsible for over 90% of cancer-related patients' death, research efforts should focus on the study of the mechanisms of multistage metastasis formation in order to improve cancer therapies. For example, based on the linear progression model of metastasis formation, cancer dissemination occurs late during tumor progression and therefore metastatic lesions are considered to be formed by the same type of tumor

cells as primary lesion and therefore treated based on the characteristics of primary tumors. Thus, Trastuzumab is used to treat metastatic breast cancer based on the expression of its target (ErbB2) in primary tumor cells. However, the recent finding that circulating tumor cells could be released during early stage of tumorigenesis and have therefore much longer time to accumulate mutations independently of the progression of the primary tumor (i.e. the parallel model of metastasis progression) provides a novel perspective to reconsider the timing or strategy of metastasis treatment ³².

We previously showed that CYR61 is upregulated in tumor cells grown in preirradiated stroma in a subcutaneous xenograft cancer model (i.e. mimicking postradiation relapses), and that expression of CYR61 promoted tumor cell invasion and metastasis ¹²⁵. However, it remained unclear at which step CYR61 plays its critical role in promoting cancer metastasis. With another orthotopical mammary fat pad injection model, we found that 4T1 murine breast cancer tumor cells growing in pre-irradiated stroma developed more lung metastases than in non pre-irradiated fat pads ¹³⁴. To understand if CYR61 promotes cancer metastasis under this condition, we adopted a model of human breast cancer by injecting human breast cancer cells (MDA-MB-231) orthotropically in pre-irradiated mammary fat pads. With this model we demonstrated that silencing of CYR61 expression reduced lung metastasis formation. As these relapses are indeed quite rare in patients, we wondered whether CYR61 also plays a role in lung metastasis during the natural course of breast cancer progression. To address this question we used different models of breast cancer metastasis.

First we injected non-silenced (NS) and CYR61 silenced (CYR61 KD) MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells orthotopically into mammary fat pads of nonirradiated mice (Fig. 3A). Lung metastasis visualized by vimentin staining clearly showed that down-regulation of CYR61 reduced spontaneous metastasis formation (Fig. 3D-F). To avoid the influence of primary tumor mass and evasion from primary site and focus on the later 2 steps extravasation and colonization, we injected the same number of NS and CYR61 KD cancer cells directly into tail vein (Fig. 4A). The NS group of mice

showed significantly more lung metastases compared to the KD group (Fig. 4B-C). Similar results were obtained from 24-hour tail vein injection (Fig. 5), suggesting that CYR61 promotes metastasis either by facilitating extravasation or promoting cancer cell growth in the lungs. To discriminate between these two hypotheses, we delayed CYR61 silencing by inducing expression of NS and CYR61 shRNA 24 hours after injection. This timeframe was adopted from the initial time course of inducible KD efficiency (Fig. 1C). Result from this experiment showed that delayed CYR61 silencing rescued lung metastasis formation in the KD group of mice, thereby strengthening the hypothesis that CYR61 facilitates cancer cell extravasation rather than lung colonization (Fig 6).

The first direct evidence that CYR61 promotes pulmonary metastasis

Our work presents the first direct experimental evidence that CYR61 promotes breast cancer metastasis to the lung. Lin et al. who used also MDA-MB-231 cells showed that a CYR61 antibody could block lymph node metastasis ¹²⁷. However, they inoculated cancer cells into the footpad, a model that does not recapitulate the biological environment for breast cancer development and metastasis. Moreover, although lymph node infiltration is generally considered as an indicator of cancer cell spreading out of primary site, whether these infiltrated cells could actively develop overt metastases at distant sites is still under debate. In fact, clinical and experimental evidence indicate that cancer cells may remain inert in lymph nodes. The correlation between lymph node infiltration and patient prognosis or survival rate also needs to be further analyzed. Evidence so far indicates that removal of metastatic lymph nodes does not significantly impact distant metastasis formation and survival. In our experiment, lymph node metastasis was found in both groups of mice and was independent of CYR61 level or lung lesion numbers (data not shown).

Besides lung, bone is another major target organ of breast cancer metastasis. However, we found only sporadic cases of bone metastasis in mice with severe lung metastasis in both groups. Considering that the MDA-MB-231 cells already express extremely high level of CYR61, we conclude that CYR61 may not play a critical role during bone metastasis formation, and that alternative mechanisms and molecules are required. For instance, a gene set favoring bone metastasis formation was identified by comparing parental MDA-MB-231 cells and cell lines derived from bone metastasis ¹³⁵. In this study, overexpression of IL-11, CTGF, CXCR4, and MMP-1 dramatically increased rate and incidence of MDA-MB-231 cell bone metastasis. Interestingly, CTGF also belongs to the CCN family and shares many features with CYR61. Like CYR61, CTGF is known to modulate diverse cellular functions also mainly through integrins. The functions of these two proteins may be overlapping or redundant by binding to the same integrin receptors.

CYR61 enhances MDA-MB-231 cell motility but not adhesion

After having demonstrated that CYR61 promotes MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell metastasis to the lung by facilitating extravasation, we aimed to investigate more in detail how CYR61 promotes cancer cell extravasation. The process of extravasation could be further dissected into 3 parts: (1) tumor cell survival in the circulation, (2) tumor cell adhesion on endothelial cells, and (3) tumor cell transendothelial migration. Each step presents a hurdle for cancer cells in order to reach lung parenchyma.

Many papers have demonstrated that CYR61 enhances cell adhesion on ECM proteins. However, we found very limited effect on MDA-MB-231 cells cell adhesion to ECM proteins by downregulating CYR61 expression (Fig. 7). Consistent with others' finding, we found that CYR61 silencing decreased cell motility in scratch wound and transwell migration assays. Moreover, silencing CYR61 decreases cancer cell transmigration across an endothelial cell monolayer *in vitro* (Fig. 8).

CYR61 promotes anchorage-independent growth and confers resistance to anoikis

Result from anchorage-independent colony formation assay using NS and CYR61 KD MDA-MB-231 cells showed that CYR61 promotes the formation of more and larger colonies under 3D non-adhesive conditions (soft agar assay), while cell growth on normal culture dishes was not different (Fig. 9). These data indicate that CYR61 favors cell survival under anchorage-independent conditions. A pro-survival effect was further investigated by keeping both NS and CYR61 KD cells in suspension and detecting apoptosis by Annexin V staining (Fig. 10). We found a clear time-dependent increase of the fraction of apoptotic cells in CYR61 KD cells, while in NS cells the fraction of Annexin V positive cells remained low. This observation is consistent with other lab's finding that MDA-MB-231 cells are largely resistant to anoikis ¹³⁶. Moreover, incubation of NS cells in suspension with anti- β 1 integrin blocking antibody increased the percentage of apoptotic cells, while incubation of CYR61 KD cells in suspension with anti-\beta3 integrin activating antibody partially reduced the fraction of apoptotic cells, suggesting that integrin ligation protects cells from anoikis and that integrin activation partially compensate for the loss of CYR61. Thus CYR61 confers MDA-MB-231 cells resistance to anoikis through integrin β 1 and β 3.

Anoikis is a form of apoptosis induced when adherent cells are detached from their substrate and lose their adequate cell-matrix interaction. Along the metastatic cascades, cancer cells detach from the ECM and float in blood or lymph. Resistance to anoikis therefore protects malignant cells from dying while in suspension and thereby facilitates their dissemination toward secondary sites ^{27,28}. Three pathways regulating anoikis have been proposed: (1) intrinsic apoptotic pathway, (2) extrinsic apoptotic pathway, and (3) caspase-independent death signaling ²⁸. The first two pathways rely on the BCL family proteins and mitochondria-dependent caspase activation. The key

regulator of the third pathway - Bit1 - is released from mitochondria to the cytosol when integrin-matrix interaction is disrupted. Cytosolic Bit1 stimulates the relocation of TLE1/AES heterodimer complex from nucleus to cytosol. TLE1 is a transcription regulator of many anoikis-related genes. Although the downstream genes are not characterized yet, TLE1 has been shown to enhance Bcl-2 activity and upregulate expression of anti-apoptotic proteins -HSP70 and thymosin- β^{29} . TLE1 proteins translocated into the cytosol therefore loose their transcriptional function. Cytosolic TLE1 are targeted to the proteasome for degradation ^{28,29}. Interestingly, the expression pattern of Bit1, an effector molecule of anoikis, is opposite to the expression pattern of CYR61 both in vivo and in vitro. In invasive breast tumors, lower expression of Bit1 was found when compared with normal or ductal carcinoma in situ. Besides, reduced level of Bit1 was also shown in the more aggressive MDA-MB-231 cells compared to MCF-7 cells. Silencing of Bit1 expression resulted in an increased amount of pulmonary metastases without affecting primary tumor growth ¹³⁶. In addition, increased ERK2 phosphorylation was found in Bit1 KD cells, due to the downregulation of ERK2 phosphatase activity. ERK phosphorylation was proposed to support cell survival under non-adhesive conditions and to protect cells from anoikis ^{136,137}. In our CYR61 KD MDA-MB-231 cells, ERK2 phosphorylation showed no difference with NS cells in adherent condition, but was downregulated when cells were kept in suspension (data not shown). This data suggested the hypothesis that in cell-matrix contact, MDA-MB-231 cells losing ERK becomes dephosophorylated, while CYR61 reduces ERK2 de-phosophorylation possibly through the negative regulation of Bit1.

Although there is no publication showing that CYR61 modulates ERK phosphatase activity or expression, findings from Mitsushima *et al.* showed that the focal adhesion (FA) protein vinexin β prevents ERK2 dephosophorylation by suppressing MAP kinase phosphatase-3 (MKP-3) when keeping cells in suspension ¹³⁸. In addition, the other CCN family member, CTGF, has been reported to upregulate MKP-1 and enhancing cell survival of activated mesangial cells by inactivating p38 MAPK ¹³⁹. Taken together these

observations suggest that CYR61 protects cells in suspension from apoptosis (anoikis) by interacting with integrins and sustaining ERK phosphorylation through the inhibition of MKP.

CYR61 controlled cell death and cancer therapeutic perspectives

Besides conferring resistance to anoikis, CYR61 has also been reported to promote cell survival and resistance against the cytotoxic effects of chemotherapy drugs. In the breast cancer cell line MCF-7, overexpression of CYR61 inhibited p53 accumulation induced by Taxol treatment, which could be reversed by inhibiting integrin $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ ligation or ERK1/2 signaling ¹¹⁰. Lin et al further showed that CYR61 mediates resistance to apoptosis induced by multiple chemotherapy drugs through an integrin/NF-KB/XIAP (inhibitor of apoptosis protein) pathway in MCF-7 cells ¹¹¹. However, in fibroblasts CYR61 played an opposite role by regulating TNF α - and Fas-mediated apoptosis through ROS production, p38 MAPK activation, cytochrome c release and caspase-dependent apoptosis ^{78,79,140}. These controversial data highlight the complex and pleiotropic functions of CYR61 and call for further work to better understand how CYR61 regulates cell survival. One possibility is that by interacting with different membrane receptors (i.e. integrins), CYR61 elicits distinct signaling events differentially affecting cell survival. On the other side, cancer cells may have already up-regulated anti-apoptotic genes or deregulated pro-apoptotic pathways which protect them from traditional cell death programs. In more aggressive tumors and cancer cell lines, they showed even resistance to anoikis with CYR61 expression ^{28,136}. A better understanding of CYR61-regulated cell survival programs, might help to inhibit metastasis formation by impeding anoikis resistance, and at the same time counteract the development of resistance to chemotherapy.

Figures



Figure 1. Silencing CYR61 expression in MDA-MB-231 cells. (A) Representative Western blot showing endogenous CYR61 protein levels in MCF7, MCF10A, MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-468 cells. (B) Western blot demonstrating constitutive silencing efficiency of CYR61 in MDA-MB-231 cells using a CYR61 targeting shRNA. NS: non-silencing, KD: CYR61 knockdown. (C) CYR61 mRNA level relative to NS control after doxocycline (Dox) treatment showing the efficiency of inducible shRNA targeting *CYR61* in MDA-MB-231 cells. (D) Representative Western blot of CYR61 protein showing that the inducible shRNA efficiently silence CYR61 protein expression in MDA-MB-231 cells.



Figure 2. Silencing CYR61 in primary tumors grown in pre-irradiated mammary fat pads reduces tumor growth and spontaneous lung metastasis formation. (A) Schematic illustration of pre-irradiation orthotopic injection breast cancer model. MFP: mammary fat pad. IR: irradiation. (B) Immunohistochemical staining of human vimentin to reveal lung metastases. Scale bar: 500µm. (C) Primary tumor volume by weight (g). N=6 for both groups; *: p<0.05. (D) Quantification of lung metastasis colony numbers. N=6 for both groups; *: p<0.05.



Α

Figure 3. Silencing CYR61 in primary tumors reduces spontaneous lung metastasis formation. (A) Schematic illustration of the protocol of the orthotopic injection model. (B) Immunohistochemical staining of CYR61 showed the knockdown efficiency *in vivo*. Scale bar: 100μm. (C) Primary tumor volume by weight (g). N=6 for both groups; ns: none significance. (D) Immunohistochemical staining of human vimentin demonstrates lung metastases. Scale bar: 500μm. (E) Quantification of lung metastasis colony numbers. N=6 for both groups; *: p<0.05.



Figure 4. CYR61 down-regulated cells are less metastatic in an experimental model of lung metastasis. (A) Schematic illustration of the protocol of the tail vein injection model. (B) Immunohistochemical staining of human vimentin demonstrates lung metastases. (C) Quantification of lung area occupied by metastatic tumors. N=7 for both groups; **: p<0.01.



Figure 5. CYR61 facilitates breast cancer cell extravasation into the lung parenchyma. (A) Schematic illustration of the protocol of the 24-hour tail vein injection model. (B) Images of the lung surface taken immediately postinjection (0 hour) show that equal amount of cancer cells labeled with Green Cell Tracker CMFDA were injected. After 24 hours, images of the lung surface demonstrate that significantly more NS cancer cells were present in the lungs. (C) Images from 7µm of lung sections obtained 24 hours post-injection. Scale bar: 250µm. (D) Quantification of cancer cell colony numbers per field from (C). N=9 for both groups; ***: p<0.005.



Figure 6. CYR61 does not affect breast cancer lung metastasis formation once cells are extravasated. (A) Schematic illustration of the protocol of delayed down-regulation of CYR61 in the tail vein injection model. (B) HE staining of lungs reveals metastasis formation. (C) Quantification of lung metastasis colony numbers from (B). N=6 for both groups; ns: none significance.





Figure 7. CYR61 affects MDA-MB-231 cell spreading but has minor effects on cell adhesion to extracellular matrix proteins. (A) Silencing CYR61 in MDA-MB-231 cells show minor reduction on adhesion to collagen I and laminin. Adhesion on fibronectin was not affected. Adherent cells were stained with crystal violet (CV) and the absorbance of eluted CV measured at 595 nm was used for quantification. Col: collagen I; Fib: fibronectin; Lam: laminin. **: p<0.01; ****: p<0.001. (B) CYR61 silenced cells showed retarded spreading under serum-free condition.





В



Figure CYR61 enhances MDA-MB-231 migration 8. cell and transendothelial migration. (A-B) CYR61 KD MDA-MB-231 cells migrated

ĸр

NS

slower in a scratch wound assay. Quantification of migration velocity (µm/hour) is shown in (B). A total of 7 spots from 3 scratches were monitored. ***: p<0.005. (C-D) Reduced migration of CYR61 KD MDA-MB-231 cells in a Transwell migration assay. Migrated cells were fixed and stained with crystal violet. Quantification of migrated cells per field is shown in (D). A total of 9 random fields were chosen from 3 transwell inserts. ****: p<0.001. (E-F) Reduced migration of CYR61 KD MDA-MB-231 cells in a transendothelial migration assay. RFP-expressing cancer cells that migrated across the endothelial monolayer were photographed and quantified in (F). A total 27 random fields were analyzed from 3 Transwell inserts. *: p<0.05.





Figure 9. CYR61 enhances colony formation under anchorageindependent conditions. (A) CYR61 silenced MDA-MB-231 cells formed smaller and fewer colonies in soft agar. Scale bar: 250µm. (B) Quantification of colony size and colony number per field from (A). Total 12 random fields from triplicate wells, and 3 focusing depth in each field were analyzed. ****: p<0.001. Representative data from one of three independent experiments are shown. (C) 2D proliferation assay showed no difference between NS and CYR61 silenced cells.





Figure 10. CYR61 confers resistance to anoikis in MDA-MB-231 cells. (A) NS and CYR61 KD MDA-MB-231 cells kept in suspension from 0 to 8 hours were stained with Annexin V-Alexa 488 and near-IR dead cell dye to distinguish viable, apoptotic and dead cell populations. (B) Quantification of the fraction of apoptotic cells of both NS and CYR61 KD populations during suspension time course. (C) CYR61 cell surface level. CYR61 KD cells have reduced CYR61 expression at the cell surface. (D) Integrin expression on NS and CYR61 KD cells. No significant changes in integrin profiles were observed among the two cell lines. (E) Incubation of β 1 integrin blocking antibody with NS cells and β 3 integrin activating antibody with CYR61 KD cells partially rescue resistance to anoikis mediated by CYR61.

Materials and Methods

Cell culture media, reagents proteins and antibodies

DMEM, DMEM/F12, M199, penicillin/streptomycin and trypsin were purchased from Gibco (NY, USA), and fetal bovine serum (FBS) was from Eurobio (Les Ulis, France). Doxocycline, 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) tablets, bovine placenta fibronectin and mouse laminin were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Buochs, Switzerland). TriPure Isolation Reagent was product of Roche (Mannheim, Germany), and the SuperScript First-Strand Synthesis Kit, Green Cell Tracker CMFDA, Annexin V and LIVE/DEAD Fixable Near-IR Dead Cell Stain Kit were obtained from Invitrogen Life Technologies (Basel, Switzerland). KAPA SYBR FAST Universal 2x qPCR Master Mix kit was purchased from Kapa Biosystems (Boston, USA). Luminata Western HRP Substrate was bought from Millipore (Billerica, MA). Growth factor-reduced Matrigel and rat tail collagen I were purchased from Ceton-Dickinson (Basel, Switzerland). Luciferin was from Biosynth (Staad, Switzerland). Mouse on Mouse (M.O.M.) blocking reagent, Avidin/Biotin blocking kit, Vectastain ABC kit and biotinylated horse anti-mouse IgG were obtained from Vector Laboratories (Burlingame, USA). Vimentin antibody, goat anti-mouse IgG-HRP and goat anti-rabbit IgG-HRP were from DAKO (Glostrup, Denmark), and the CYR61 antibody was from Santa Cruz (TX, USA).

Cell culture

HEK293T, MCF-7, MDA-MB-468 and MDA-MD-231 cells were grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, and 1% penicillin/streptomycin. Special DMEM/F12 supplemented with 10% horse serum, 20 ng/mL EGF, 0.5 mg/mL hydrocortisone, 100 ng/mL cholera toxin, 10 μ g/mL insulin and 1% penicillin/streptomycin was used to grow MCF-10A.

Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) were grown in M199 with 10% FBS, 1% penicillin/streptomycin, 1 μ g /mL hydrocortisone, 5 μ g /mL

EGF, 5 µg/mL bovine pituitary extract, and 25 unit/mL heparin. Culture plates for HUVEC were pre-coated with 1% gelatin for 30 min. HUVECs between 3rd to 7th passages were used for experiments. For subculture, cells were trypsinized with 0.05% trypsin-EDTA and passaged every 2-3 days. All cultures were kept at 37°C with 5%CO2.

Lentivirus production and transduction

All shRNA vectors (pLKO.1 for constitutive knockdown and pTRIPZ for Tet-On inducible knockdown) were obtained from Open Biosystems (Huntsville, AL). Lentiviruses were produced by co-transfection of shRNA sequence-containing vectors with pSD11 (VSV-G, viral envelope) and pSD16 (packaging construct) into HEK293T cells by calcium phosphate transfection method. Cells were replaced with fresh medium after overnight incubation, and the virus-containing supernatant media were collected, filtered through 0.45µm filters and aliquoted for virus infection.

For transduction, MDA-MB-231 cells were seeded into culture dishes one day before transduction to reach 70% confluence before exposure to the lentivirus. Lentivirus-containing supernatant was supplemented with 10% fresh culture DMEM and 8 μ g/mL polybrene and incubated with cells for 6-8 hours. Afterwards, medium was replaced again with fresh culture medium and the cells were kept for 2 days before puromycin selection. Over 90% of cells were successfully transduced and resulted in stable cell lines. To induce the expression of pTRIPZ inducible shRNA system, doxocycline was added to culture medium of puromycin-selected cells with a concentration of 2 μ g/mL. Except for specific time course experiment, cells with inducible shRNA system were treated with doxocycline for at least 3 days before conducting experiments. The knockdown efficiency of each shRNA was validated by qPCR and immunoblot for mRNA and protein expression.

Real-time quantitative PCR

Total RNA was isolated from cells lysed with TriPure Isolation Reagent following manufacturer's instruction. RNA concentration was measured by Nanodrop spectrophotometer (Wilmington, USA). For complementary DNA synthesis, up to 5 µg of total RNA was mixed with Superscript First Strand Synthesis Kit for reverse transcription. cDNA were diluted 1:20-1:100 for conducting real-time PCR by using KAPA SYBR FAST Universal 2x qPCR Master Mix kit on the Step One Plus Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems). Dissociation curve of each reaction was checked to determine the purity of PCR end products. Relative Ct values of target genes to house-keeping gene (GAPDH) were calculated to compare the expression level between samples. All qPCR reactions were done in duplicate, and the data from one of three independent repeats was shown. Primer sequences were as following:

CYR61 forward: 5'- ACGCTGGATGTTTGAGTGTG CYR61 reversed: 5'- TGTAGAAGGGAAACGCTGCT GAPDH forward: 5'- GGACCTGACCTGCCGTCTAG GAPDH reversed: 5'- CCACCACCCTGTTGCTGTAG

Immunoblotting

Cells were lysed with 1% NP-40 lysis buffer with protease inhibitors. Twenty µg of total proteins were boiled with 6x sample buffer at 95°C for 5 minutes and resolved by 10% SDS-PAGE with 1x running buffer (25mM Tris, 192mM glycine, 0.1% SDS). After electrophoresis, SDS-PAGE was transferred to Immobilon-P Transfer Membrane (Milipore, Zug, Switzerland) with 1x transfer buffer (25mM Tris, 192mM glycine, 20% methanol) under 250mA for 4 hours. Membranes were blocked by 5% BSA/1x TBSt (10mM Tris, 150mM NaCl, 0.1% Tween 20, pH7.4) at room temperature for 2 hours. Primary antibodies and peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies were diluted to 1:1000 and 1:4000 in 1% BSA/1x TBSt, incubated with membranes at room temperature for 1.5 hours. After antibody incubation, the blots were quickly rinsed by 1x

TBSt for three times, and washed by 1x TBSt for three times, 15 minutes per wash time. Blots were incubated with Luminata Western HRP Substrate for 3 minutes, and the chemiluminescent signal was detected by exposing blots to X-Ray films.

In vivo tumor growth and metastasis formation

Eight-weeks-old of NSG female mice (animal facility, CIL, University of Lausanne, Epalinges, Switzerland) were used for all in vivo tumor growth and metastasis formation studies. For orthotopic primary tumor formation, one million of MDA-MB-231 luciferase-expressing cells were resuspended in 40 μ L serum-free DMEM and mixed with 10 μ L Matrigel were injected into the right 4th mammary fat pad. Formation of spontaneous metastasis was indicated by bioluminescence signal obtained from the Caliper IVIS Lumina II (PerkinElmer, USA) following luciferin i.p. injection. Half million of MDA-MB-231 cells in 100 µL PBS was injected through tail vein to generate experimental metastasis. At the end of the experiments, mice were anaesthetized and perfused with 2% paraformaldehyde (PFA)/PBS. Primary tumors and lungs were fixed by 4% PFA overnight and then embedded in paraffin. Lungs from 24-hour tail vein injection experiment were embedded in OCT for cryosection. All animal experiments were done according to national ethical guidelines and were authorized by the veterinary service of Canton Fribourg.

To quantify metastasis in lung, sections from 2 to 4 different planes with 200 μ m distance between each plane were stained by HE or vimentin IHC. Total number of metastasis nodules from the whole section was counted under light microscope (Zeiss, Germany). To determine the lung area occupied by metastasis, five random areas per section were photographed, and the average values for each mouse was calculated. Metastasis index was calculated by normalizing the mean values of metastatic foci number by primary tumor weight.

Immunohistochemistry

Paraffin blocks were cut into 4 μ m thin sections. After deparaffinization and dehydration, sections were heated in Tris-EDTA (pH 10) buffer for 20 minutes and slowly cooled down to retrieve antigen epitopes. To quench endogenous peroxidase, sections were incubated with 3% H₂O₂ for 10 minutes. Mouse on Mouse (M.O.M.) blocking reagent was adopted to reduce non-specific binding for vimentin staining. Vimentin antibody and biotinylated goat anti-mouse secondary antibody were diluted 1:200 and 1:800 respectively. Following the incubation of Vectastain ABC kit, the specific immunostaining from antibody-peroxidase complex was visualized with the DAB peroxidase substrate. Sections were then counterstained with hematoxylin and mounted for examination.

Adhesion assay

Collagen I, fibronectin, and laminin were coated at different concentrations (1, 2.5, and 5 μ g/mL) on 96-well plates at 37°C for 3 hours followed by blocking with 1% BSA at 4°C overnight. NS and CYR61 KD cells were trypsinized, resuspended in serum-free DMEM, and allowed to adhere on coated plates (4x10⁴ cells / 100 μ L / well) for different time period (from 15 minutes to 40 minutes) at 37°C. At the end of adhesion, unattached cells were washed away by rinsing with PBS. Adhered cells were fixed by 4% PFA for 10 minutes and stained with crystal violet. Specific binding to each ECM protein was determined by quantification of absorbance at 595 nm wavelength in a multiwall plate reader (Modulus II microplate reader, Turner Biosystems). Results were analyzed by Prism, and the representative results from three independent experiments are shown.

Spreading assay

Cells were trypsinized and resuspended in serum-free DMEM. Equal amount of NS and CYR61 KD cells were plated under serum-free conditions. Cell spreading was monitored and photographed by phase contrast microscopy every 2 hours. Representative data from one of the three independent experiments are shown.

Scratch wound migration assay

MDA-MB-231 cells were grown to 100% confluent in 6 well plates. Scratches were made by micro-pipet tips, and the medium was immediately replaced with 5% FBS-containing DMEM to remove suspended cells. The closure of scratches was monitored by timelapse microscopy for 24 hours. In total, seven spots from three scratches were recorded for each cell line, and the migration velocity was presented as migrated distance (μ m) per hour. Representative data from one of the three independent experiments was shown.

Transwell migration assay

The Transwell inserts (8µm pore size, Becton-Dickinson, Bedford, MA) were pre-incubated with serum-free DMEM at 37°C for 30 minutes before use. Then, 700 µL DMEM containing 5%FBS was carefully loaded to the lower part of chamber, and $4x10^4$ cells in 200µL serum-free DMEM was added to the upper part of chamber. Cells were allowed to migrate through the membrane for 8 hours at 37°C. Non-migrated cells still in the upper part of chamber were carefully removed by cotton swabs. The membrane was then fixed with 4% PFA for 10 minute to fix the cells migrated on the lower side of the membrane, followed by crystal violet staining for 10 minutes. Three random fields were chosen from each insert and total 9 fields were photographed to quantify the numbers of migrated cells. Representative data from one of the three independent experiments are shown.

Transendothelial migration assay

HUVECs (5000cells / insert) were plated on gelatin pre-coated Transwell inserts (8µm pore size) and cultured for 2 days to reach 100% confluence. Before experiments, medium in the lower chamber was replaced with 700 µL M199 containing 5% FBS, and medium in the upper chamber was replaced with 100 µL serum-free M199. RFP-expressing NS and CYR61 KD MDA-MB-231 cells were trypsinized, and $4x10^4$ cells in 100 µL serum-free DMEM was loaded to each chamber. Transendothelial migration was allowed for 12 hours at 37°C. At the end of the experiment, HUVECs and non-migrated MDA-MB-231 cells in the upper part of the chamber were carefully removed by cotton swabs. The membrane was then fixed with 4% PFA for 10 minute to fix the cells migrated on the lower side of the membrane and migrated cells were visualized under fluorescent microscope. Nine random fields from each insert were photographed. Total 27 fields were analyzed by ImageJ to quantify the area covered by migrated cells. Representative data from one of the three independent experiments are shown.

Proliferation assay

Cell growth rate was calculated from surface area covered by cells optically determined by IncuCyte FLR (Essen Bioscience, USA). MDA-MB-231 cells $(12.5 \times 10^4 \text{ cells / well})$ were plated in a 6-well plate at 5% initial confluence and cultured until the confluence reached 100%. Total 18 spots from 2 wells per cell line were monitored. Representative data from one of the three independent experiments are shown.

Anchorage-independent cell growth assay

Six-well plates were pre-coated with 0.6% agar in DMEM supplemented with 5% FBS. Cells $(2x10^4 \text{ cells } / 2mL / \text{ well})$ mixed with 0.3% agar in DMEM supplemented with 5% FBS were plated on top. DMEM with 5% FBS was added to the wells and replaced with fresh medium every 2 days. After 2

weeks, colonies were stained with 0.005% crystal violet. Twelve random fields from triplicate wells were photographed with 3 different focuses to calculate both colony number and colony size. Colony size is categorized into 3 groups according to the diameter: <50 μ m, 50-100 μ m, 100-200 μ m, and >200 μ m. Representative data from one of the three independent experiments are shown.

Anoikis assay

Cells were trypsinized and 3x10⁵ cells were kept in FACS tubes in serum-free DMEM for the indicated periods of time. Different integrin blocking or activating antibodies were co-incubated with cells throughout the time being in suspension. At the end of experiment, cells were stained with Annexin V-Alexa 488 and LIVE/DEAD Fixable Near-IR Dead Cell Stain Kit. The apoptotic (Annexin V positive) and dead cell (near-IR dye positive) populations were determined by FACSCalibur flow cytometer (BD, Germany) and analyzed by FlowJo software (TreeStar, USA).

Statistical analysis

Data from all experiments were expressed as mean \pm SD. The analysis was performed by unpaired T-test by Prism. P-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

References

- Ferlay, J. *et al.* Estimates of worldwide burden of cancer in 2008: GLOBOCAN 2008. *Int. J. Cancer* **127**, 2893–2917 (2010).
- J, F. *et al.* GLOBOCAN 2012 v1.0, Cancer Incidence and Mortality Worldwide: IARC CancerBase No. 11 [Internet]. 1–3 (2013). at http://globocan.iarc.fr
- Hanahan, D. & Weinberg, R. A. The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell* 100, 57–70 (2000).
- 4. Hanahan, D. & Weinberg, R. A. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* **144**, 646–674 (2011).
- Vander Heiden, M. G., Cantley, L. C. & Thompson, C. B. Understanding the Warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. *Science* 324, 1029–1033 (2009).
- Yang, L., Pang, Y. & Moses, H. L. TGF-beta and immune cells: an important regulatory axis in the tumor microenvironment and progression. *Trends Immunol.* 31, 220–227 (2010).
- 7. Ostrand-Rosenberg, S. & Sinha, P. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: linking inflammation and cancer. *J. Immunol.* **182**, 4499–4506 (2009).
- Negrini, S., Gorgoulis, V. G. & Halazonetis, T. D. Genomic instability-an evolving hallmark of cancer. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 11, 220–228 (2010).
- 9. Jackson, S. P. & Bartek, J. The DNA-damage response in human biology and disease. *Nature* **461**, 1071–1078 (2009).
- DeNardo, D. G., Andreu, P. & Coussens, L. M. Interactions between lymphocytes and myeloid cells regulate pro- versus anti-tumor immunity. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* 29, 309–316 (2010).
- 11. Grivennikov, S. I., Greten, F. R. & Karin, M. Immunity, Inflammation, and Cancer. *Cell* **140**, 883–899 (2010).
- 12. Qian, B.-Z. & Pollard, J. W. Macrophage Diversity Enhances Tumor Progression and Metastasis. *Cell* **141**, 39–51 (2010).
- 13. Lorusso, G. & Rüegg, C. The tumor microenvironment and its contribution to tumor evolution toward metastasis. *Histochem Cell Biol*

130, 1091–1103 (2008).

- Joyce, J. A. & Pollard, J. W. Microenvironmental regulation of metastasis. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 9, 239–252 (2008).
- Vanharanta, S. & Massagué, J. Origins of Metastatic Traits. Cancer Cell 24, 410–421 (2013).
- Chiang, A. C. & Massagué, J. Molecular Basis of Metastasis. N Engl J Med 359, 2814–2823 (2008).
- Fidler, I. J. The pathogenesis of cancer metastasis: the 'seed and soil' hypothesis revisited. Nat. Rev. Cancer 3, 453–458 (2003).
- Christofori, G. New signals from the invasive front. *Nature* 441, 444–450 (2006).
- 19. Massagué, J. TGFβ in Cancer. *Cell* **134**, 215–230 (2008).
- Heldin, C.-H., Landström, M. & Moustakas, A. Mechanism of TGF-β signaling to growth arrest, apoptosis, and epithelial–mesenchymal transition. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* **21**, 166–176 (2009).
- 21. Huber, M. A., Kraut, N. & Beug, H. Molecular requirements for epithelial-mesenchymal transition during tumor progression. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* **17**, 548–558 (2005).
- Raghu Kalluri, R. A. W. The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* **119**, 1420–1428 (2009).
- Tsuji, T., Ibaragi, S. & Hu, G.-F. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cell cooperativity in metastasis. *Cancer Research* 69, 7135–7139 (2009).
- 24. Gay, L. J. & Felding-Habermann, B. Contribution of platelets to tumour metastasis. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* **11**, 123–134 (2011).
- Boucharaba, A. *et al.* Platelet-derived lysophosphatidic acid supports the progression of osteolytic bone metastases in breast cancer. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* **114**, 1714–1725 (2004).
- Labelle, M., Begum, S. & Hynes, R. O. Direct signaling between platelets and cancer cells induces an epithelial-mesenchymal-like transition and promotes metastasis. *Cancer Cell* 20, 576–590 (2011).
- 27. Kim, Y.-N., Koo, K. H., Sung, J. Y., Yun, U.-J. & Kim, H. Anoikis resistance: an essential prerequisite for tumor metastasis. *Int J Cell*

Biol 2012, 306879 (2012).

- Tan, K., Goldstein, D., Crowe, P. & Yang, J.-L. Uncovering a key to the process of metastasis in human cancers: a review of critical regulators of anoikis. *J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol.* **139**, 1795–1805 (2013).
- Jenning, S., Pham, T., Ireland, S. K., Ruoslahti, E. & Biliran, H. Bit1 in anoikis resistance and tumor metastasis. *Cancer Lett.* 333, 147–151 (2013).
- Psaila, B. & Lyden, D. The metastatic niche: adapting the foreign soil.
 Nat. Rev. Cancer 9, 285–293 (2009).
- Giancotti, F. G. Mechanisms governing metastatic dormancy and reactivation. *Cell* 155, 750–764 (2013).
- Klein, C. A. Parallel progression of primary tumours and metastases.
 Nat. Rev. Cancer 9, 302–312 (2009).
- O'Connell, J. T. *et al.* VEGF-A and Tenascin-C produced by S100A4+ stromal cells are important for metastatic colonization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **108**, 16002–16007 (2011).
- 34. Oskarsson, T., Acharyya, S., Zhang, X. & Vanharanta, S. Breast cancer cells produce tenascin C as a metastatic niche component to colonize the lungs. *Nature medicine* (2011).
- Malanchi, I., Santamaria-Martínez, A., Susanto, E. & Peng, H. Interactions between cancer stem cells and their niche govern metastatic colonization. *Nature* (2011).
- Fidler, I. J. Metastasis: guantitative analysis of distribution and fate of tumor embolilabeled with 125 I-5-iodo-2'-deoxyuridine. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 45, 773–782 (1970).
- Luzzi, K. J. *et al.* Multistep nature of metastatic inefficiency: dormancy of solitary cells after successful extravasation and limited survival of early micrometastases. *Am. J. Pathol.* **153**, 865–873 (1998).
- Weigelt, B., Peterse, J. L. & van 't Veer, L. J. Breast cancer metastasis: markers and models. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 5, 591–602 (2005).
- Bubendorf, L. *et al.* Metastatic patterns of prostate cancer: an autopsy study of 1,589 patients. *Hum. Pathol.* **31**, 578–583 (2000).

- Ceresoli, G. L. *et al.* Gefitinib in patients with brain metastases from non-small-cell lung cancer: a prospective trial. *Ann. Oncol.* 15, 1042– 1047 (2004).
- 41. Lee, Y. T. Malignant melanoma: pattern of metastasis. *CA Cancer J Clin* **30**, 137–142 (1980).
- 42. Paget, S. THE DISTRIBUTION OF SECONDARY GROWTHS IN CANCER OF THE BREAST. *The Lancet* **133**, 571–573 (1889).
- Talmadge, J. E. & Fidler, I. J. AACR centennial series: the biology of cancer metastasis: historical perspective. *Cancer Research* 70, 5649– 5669 (2010).
- Hart, I. R. & Fidler, I. J. Role of organ selectivity in the determination of metastatic patterns of B16 melanoma. *Cancer Research* 40, 2281–2287 (1980).
- 45. Müller, A. *et al.* Involvement of chemokine receptors in breast cancer metastasis. *Nature* **410**, 50–56 (2001).
- 46. Kaplan, R. N. *et al.* VEGFR1-positive haematopoietic bone marrow progenitors initiate the pre-metastatic niche. *Nature* **438**, 820–827 (2005).
- Deng, J. *et al.* S1PR1-STAT3 signaling is crucial for myeloid cell colonization at future metastatic sites. *Cancer Cell* **21**, 642–654 (2012).
- 48. Erler, J. T., Bennewith, K. L., Cox, T. R., Lang, G. & Bird, D. Hypoxiainduced lysyl oxidase is a critical mediator of bone marrow cell recruitment to form the premetastatic niche. *Cancer Cell* (2009).
- 49. Hiratsuka, S., Nakamura, K., Iwai, S., Murakami, M. & Itoh, T. MMP9 induction by vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 is involved in lung-specific metastasis. *Cancer Cell* (2002).
- 50. Klein, C. A. *et al.* Combined transcriptome and genome analysis of single micrometastatic cells. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **20**, 387–392 (2002).
- 51. Schardt, J. A. *et al.* Genomic analysis of single cytokeratin-positive cells from bone marrow reveals early mutational events in breast cancer. *Cancer Cell* **8**, 227–239 (2005).
- 52. Stoecklein, N. H. *et al.* Direct genetic analysis of single disseminated cancer cells for prediction of outcome and therapy selection in

esophageal cancer. Cancer Cell 13, 441-453 (2008).

- Weckermann, D. *et al.* Perioperative activation of disseminated tumor cells in bone marrow of patients with prostate cancer. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 27, 1549–1556 (2009).
- 54. O'Brien, T. P., Yang, G. P., Sanders, L. & Lau, L. F. Expression of cyr61, a growth factor-inducible immediate-early gene. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 10, 3569–3577 (1990).
- 55. Holbourn, K. P., Acharya, K. R. & Perbal, B. The CCN family of proteins: structure–function relationships. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* **33**, 461–473 (2008).
- 56. Brigstock, D. R. *et al.* Proposal for a unified CCN nomenclature. *MP*, *Mol. Pathol.* **56**, 127–128 (2003).
- 57. Chen, C.-C. & Lau, L. F. Functions and mechanisms of action of CCN matricellular proteins. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* **41**, 771–783 (2009).
- 58. Lau, L. F. & Nathans, D. Expression of a set of growth-related immediate early genes in BALB/c 3T3 cells: coordinate regulation with c-fos or c-myc. ... of the National Academy of Sciences (1987).
- Gashaw, I., Stiller, S., Böing, C., Kimmig, R. & Winterhager, E.
 Premenstrual regulation of the pro-angiogenic factor CYR61 in human endometrium. *Endocrinology* 149, 2261–2269 (2008).
- Han, J. S., Macarak, E., Rosenbloom, J., Chung, K. C. & Chaqour, B. Regulation of Cyr61/CCN1 gene expression through RhoA GTPase and p38MAPK signaling pathways. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 270, 3408–3421 (2003).
- Sakamoto, S. *et al.* Increased expression of CYR61, an extracellular matrix signaling protein, in human benign prostatic hyperplasia and its regulation by lysophosphatidic acid. *Endocrinology* 145, 2929–2940 (2004).
- Brunner, A., Chinn, J., Neubauer, M. & PURCHIO, A. F. Identification of a gene family regulated by transforming growth factor-beta. *DNA Cell Biol.* **10**, 293–300 (1991).
- 63. Walsh, C. T. *et al.* Thrombin receptor and RhoA mediate cell proliferation through integrins and cysteine-rich protein 61. *FASEB J.*22, 4011–4021 (2008).
- Rivera-Gonzalez, R., Petersen, D. N. & Tkalcevic, G. Estrogeninduced genes in the uterus of ovariectomized rats and their regulation by droloxifene and tamoxifen. *The Journal of Steroid* ... (1998). doi:10.1016/S0960-0760(97)00142-8
- Schütze, N. *et al.* The human analog of murine cystein rich protein 61 [correction of 16] is a 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 responsive immediate early gene in human fetal osteoblasts: regulation by cytokines, growth factors, and serum. *Endocrinology* **139**, 1761–1770 (1998).
- Hilfiker, A., Hilfiker-Kleiner, D., Fuchs, M. & Kaminski, K. Expression of CYR61, an angiogenic immediate early gene, in arteriosclerosis and its regulation by angiotensin II. *Circulation* **106**, 254–260 (2002).
- 67. Quan, T. *et al.* Elevated cysteine-rich 61 mediates aberrant collagen homeostasis in chronologically aged and photoaged human skin. *Am. J. Pathol.* 169, 482–490 (2006).
- Chaqour, B. & Goppelt Struebe, M. Mechanical regulation of the Cyr61/CCN1 and CTGF/CCN2 proteins. *FEBS J.* 273, 3639–3649 (2006).
- 69. Lau, L. F. CCN1/CYR61: the very model of a modern matricellular protein. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* **68**, 3149–3163 (2011).
- 70. Dhar, A. & Ray, A. The CCN family proteins in carcinogenesis. *Exp. Oncol.* **32**, 2–9 (2010).
- 71. Kireeva, M. L., Lam, S. & Lau, L. F. Adhesion of human umbilical vein endothelial cells to the immediate-early gene product Cyr61 is mediated through integrin αvβ3. *J. Biol. Chem.* (1998). doi:10.1074/jbc.273.5.3090
- 72. Chen, N., Chen, C. C. & Lau, L. F. Adhesion of human skin fibroblasts to Cyr61 is mediated through integrin alpha 6beta 1 and cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans. *J. Biol. Chem.* **275**, 24953–24961 (2000).
- 73. Grzeszkiewicz, T. M., Lindner, V., Chen, N., Lam, S. C. T. & Lau, L. F. The angiogenic factor cysteine-rich 61 (CYR61, CCN1) supports vascular smooth muscle cell adhesion and stimulates chemotaxis through integrin alpha(6)beta(1) and cell surface heparan sulfate

proteoglycans. Endocrinology 143, 1441–1450 (2002).

- 74. Jedsadayanmata, A., Chen, C. C. & Kireeva, M. L. Activationdependent adhesion of human platelets to Cyr61 and Fisp12/mouse connective tissue growth factor is mediated through integrin αIIbβ3. *Journal of Biological ...* 274, 24321–24327 (1999).
- Bai, T., Chen, C.-C. & Lau, L. F. Matricellular protein CCN1 activates a proinflammatory genetic program in murine macrophages. *J. Immunol.* 184, 3223–3232 (2010).
- Jun, J.-I. & Lau, L. F. The matricellular protein CCN1 induces fibroblast senescence and restricts fibrosis in cutaneous wound healing. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 12, 676–685 (2010).
- Todorovic, V., Chen, C.-C., Hay, N. & Lau, L. F. The matrix protein CCN1 (CYR61) induces apoptosis in fibroblasts. *J. Cell Biol.* 171, 559–568 (2005).
- Juric, V., Chen, C.-C. & Lau, L. F. Fas-mediated apoptosis is regulated by the extracellular matrix protein CCN1 (CYR61) in vitro and in vivo. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 29, 3266–3279 (2009).
- Grzeszkiewicz, T. M., Kirschling, D. J., Chen, N. & Lau, L. F. CYR61 stimulates human skin fibroblast migration through Integrin alpha vbeta 5 and enhances mitogenesis through integrin alpha vbeta 3, independent of its carboxyl-terminal domain. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 21943–21950 (2001).
- Babic, A. M., Kireeva, M. L., Kolesnikova, T. V. & Lau, L. F. CYR61, a product of a growth factor-inducible immediate early gene, promotes angiogenesis and tumor growth. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 6355–6360 (1998).
- Leu, S. J., Lam, S. & Lau, L. F. Pro-angiogenic activities of CYR61 (CCN1) mediated through integrins αvβ3 and α6β1 in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 46248–46255 (2002).
- 83. Chen, Y. & Du, X.-Y. Functional properties and intracellular signaling

of CCN1/Cyr61. J. Cell. Biochem. 100, 1337–1345 (2007).

- 84. Xie, D., Nakachi, K., Wang, H., Elashoff, R. & Koeffler, H. P. Elevated levels of connective tissue growth factor, WISP-1, and CYR61 in primary breast cancers associated with more advanced features. *Cancer Research* 61, 8917–8923 (2001).
- Jiang, W. G. *et al.* Differential expression of the CCN family members Cyr61, CTGF and Nov in human breast cancer. *Endocr. Relat. Cancer* 11, 781–791 (2004).
- 86. O'Kelly, J. *et al.* Functional domains of CCN1 (Cyr61) regulate breast cancer progression. *Int. J. Oncol.* **33**, 59–67 (2008).
- Lin, M.-T. *et al.* Cyr61 induces gastric cancer cell motility/invasion via activation of the integrin/nuclear factor-kappaB/cyclooxygenase-2 signaling pathway. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **11**, 5809–5820 (2005).
- Gery, S. *et al.* Ovarian carcinomas: CCN genes are aberrantly expressed and CCN1 promotes proliferation of these cells. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **11**, 7243–7254 (2005).
- Xie, D. *et al.* Cyr61 is overexpressed in gliomas and involved in integrin-linked kinase-mediated Akt and β-catenin-TCF/Lef signaling pathways. *Cancer Research* (2004). doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-0666
- Goodwin, C. R. *et al.* Cyr61 mediates hepatocyte growth factordependent tumor cell growth, migration, and Akt activation. *Cancer Research* 70, 2932–2941 (2010).
- Xie, D. *et al.* Levels of expression of CYR61 and CTGF are prognostic for tumor progression and survival of individuals with gliomas. *Clinical Cancer* ... **10**, 2072–2081 (2004).
- Kok, S. H. *et al.* Expression of Cyr61 (CCN1) in human oral squamous cell carcinoma: An independent marker for poor prognosis. *Head Neck* 32, 1665–1673 (2010).
- Zhou, Z.-Q. *et al.* Expression and prognostic significance of THBS1, Cyr61 and CTGF in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *BMC Cancer* 9, 291 (2009).
- 94. Haque, I., Mehta, S., Majumder, M., Dhar, K. & De, A. Cyr61/CCN1 signaling is critical for epithelial-mesenchymal transition and stemness

and promotes pancreatic carcinogenesis. ... Cancer (2011).

- Sabile, A. A. *et al.* Cyr61 expression in osteosarcoma indicates poor prognosis and promotes intratibial growth and lung metastasis in mice.
 J. Bone Miner. Res. 27, 58–67 (2012).
- D'Antonio, K. B. *et al.* Extracellular Matrix Associated Protein CYR61 is Linked to Prostate Cancer Development. *The Journal of Urology* 183, 1604–1610 (2010).
- D'Antonio, K. B. *et al.* Decreased expression of Cyr61 is associated with prostate cancer recurrence after surgical treatment. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 16, 5908–5913 (2010).
- Ladwa, R., Pringle, H., Kumar, R. & West, K. Expression of CTGF and Cyr61 in colorectal cancer. *Journal of clinical pathology* 64, 58–64 (2011).
- Tong, X., Xie, D., O'Kelly, J. & Miller, C. W. Cyr61, a member of CCN family, is a tumor suppressor in non-small cell lung cancer. *Journal of Biological* ... 276, 47709–47714 (2001).
- Chen, P. P. *et al.* Expression of Cyr61, CTGF, and WISP-1 correlates with clinical features of lung cancer. *PLoS ONE* (2007). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0000534
- 101. Mori, A., Desmond, J. C., Komatsu, N. & O'Kelly, J. CYR61: a new measure of lung cancer outcome. ... *Cancer* **25**, 738–741 (2007).
- 102. LV, J., ZOU, Y., ZHANG, C. & MAO, Z. Expressions of Cyr61 and WISP-3 in non-small cell lung cancer and its clinical significance]. *Zhongguo fei ai za zhi= Chinese …* (2010). doi:10.3779/j.issn.1009-3419.2010.12.08
- Watari, H., Xiong, Y., Hassan, M. K. & Sakuragi, N. Cyr61, a member of ccn (connective tissue growth factor/cysteine-rich 61/nephroblastoma overexpressed) family, predicts survival of patients with endometrial cancer *Gynecologic Oncology* (2009). doi:10.1016/j.ygyno.2008.09.039
- 104. Chien, W. *et al.* Cyr61 suppresses growth of human endometrial cancer cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* **279**, 53087–53096 (2004).
- 105. Li, Z.-Q. *et al.* Cyr61/CCN1 Is Regulated by Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling and Plays an Important Role in the Progression of Hepatocellular

Carcinoma. *PLoS ONE* **7**, e35754 (2012).

- 106. Feng, P., Wang, B. & Ren, E. C. Cyr61/CCN1 is a tumor suppressor in human hepatocellular carcinoma and involved in DNA damage response. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* **40**, 98–109 (2008).
- 107. Tsai, M. S., Hornby, A. E., Lakins, J. & Lupu, R. Expression and function of CYR61, an angiogenic factor, in breast cancer cell lines and tumor biopsies. *Cancer Research* **60**, 5603–5607 (2000).
- Tsai, M.-S., Bogart, D. F., Castaneda, J. M., Li, P. & Lupu, R. Cyr61 promotes breast tumorigenesis and cancer progression. *Oncogene* 21, 8178–8185 (2002).
- Vellon, L., Menendez, J. A. & Lupu, R. AlphaVbeta3 integrin regulates heregulin (HRG)-induced cell proliferation and survival in breast cancer. *Oncogene* 24, 3759–3773 (2005).
- 110. Menendez, J. A. *et al.* A novel CYR61-triggered 'CYR61-alphavbeta3 integrin loop' regulates breast cancer cell survival and chemosensitivity through activation of ERK1/ERK2 MAPK signaling pathway. *Oncogene* 24, 761–779 (2005).
- 111. Lin, M.-T. *et al.* Cyr61 expression confers resistance to apoptosis in breast cancer MCF-7 cells by a mechanism of NF-kappaB-dependent XIAP up-regulation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **279**, 24015–24023 (2004).
- Lin, M.-T. *et al.* Involvement of hypoxia-inducing factor-1alphadependent plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 up-regulation in Cyr61/CCN1-induced gastric cancer cell invasion. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 15807–15815 (2008).
- 113. Lin, B.-R. *et al.* Cysteine-rich 61 (CCN1) enhances chemotactic migration, transendothelial cell migration, and intravasation by concomitantly up-regulating chemokine receptor 1 and 2. *Mol. Cancer Res.* 5, 1111–1123 (2007).
- Lin, M.-T. *et al.* Elevated expression of Cyr61 enhances peritoneal dissemination of gastric cancer cells through integrin alpha2beta1. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 34594–34604 (2007).
- 115. Rho, S. B., Woo, J. S., Byun, H.-J., Chun, T. & Park, S.-Y. Cysteinerich 61 (CYR61) inhibits cisplatin-induced apoptosis in ovarian carcinoma cells. *Biotechnol. Lett.* **31**, 23–28 (2009).

- Lee, K.-B. *et al.* CYR61 controls p53 and NF-κB expression through PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathways in carboplatin-induced ovarian cancer cells. *Cancer Lett.* **315**, 86–95 (2012).
- Young, N. & Van Brocklyn, J. R. Roles of sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) receptors in malignant behavior of glioma cells. Differential effects of S1P2 on cell migration and invasiveness. *Exp. Cell Res.* 313, 1615–1627 (2007).
- Chuang, J. Y. *et al.* Cyr61 increases matrix metalloproteinase-3 expression and cell motility in human oral squamous cell carcinoma cells. *J. Cell. Biochem.* **113**, 1977–1986 (2012).
- 119. Tanaka, F. *et al.* Snail promotes Cyr61 secretion to prime collective cell migration and form invasive tumor nests in squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Lett.* **329**, 243–252 (2013).
- Fromigue, O. *et al.* CYR61 downregulation reduces osteosarcoma cell invasion, migration, and metastasis. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* 26, 1533– 1542 (2011).
- Sabile, A. A. *et al.* Caprin-1, a novel Cyr61-interacting protein, promotes osteosarcoma tumor growth and lung metastasis in mice. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1832, 1173–1182 (2013).
- Haque, I. *et al.* The matricellular protein CCN1/Cyr61 is a critical regulator of Sonic Hedgehog in pancreatic carcinogenesis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 38569–38579 (2012).
- Sun, Z. J. *et al.* Involvement of Cyr61 in growth, migration, and metastasis of prostate cancer cells. *Br. J. Cancer* **99**, 1656–1667 (2008).
- Franzen, C. A. *et al.* Matrix protein CCN1 is critical for prostate carcinoma cell proliferation and TRAIL-induced apoptosis. *Mol. Cancer Res.* 7, 1045–1055 (2009).
- 125. Monnier, Y. *et al.* CYR61 and alphaVbeta5 integrin cooperate to promote invasion and metastasis of tumors growing in preirradiated stroma. *Cancer Research* **68**, 7323–7331 (2008).
- Tong, X. *et al.* Cyr61 suppresses the growth of non-small-cell lung cancer cells via the β-catenin–c-myc–p53 pathway. *Oncogene* 23, 4847–4855 (2004).

- Lin, J. *et al.* A novel anti-Cyr61 antibody inhibits breast cancer growth and metastasis in vivo. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.* **61**, 677–687 (2012).
- 128. Mo, F. E., Muntean, A. G., Chen, C. C. & Stolz, D. B. CYR61 (CCN1) is essential for placental development and vascular integrity. ... and cellular biology (2002). doi:10.1128/MCB.22.24.8709-8720.2002
- 129. Wong, M., Kireeva, M. L., Kolesnikova, T. V. & Lau, L. F. Cyr61, product of a growth factor-inducible immediate-early gene, regulates chondrogenesis in mouse limb bud mesenchymal cells. *Dev. Biol.* **192**, 492–508 (1997).
- Hadjiargyrou, M., Ahrens, W. & Rubin, C. T. Temporal expression of the chondrogenic and angiogenic growth factor CYR61 during fracture repair. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* **15**, 1014–1023 (2000).
- Emre, Y. *et al.* Thymic epithelial cell expansion through matricellular protein CYR61 boosts progenitor homing and T-cell output. *Nat Commun* 4, 2842 (2013).
- Chai, J. *et al.* CCN1 induces a reversible epithelial-mesenchymal transition in gastric epithelial cells. *Lab. Invest.* **90**, 1140–1151 (2010).
- Jun, J.-I. & Lau, L. F. Cellular senescence controls fibrosis in wound healing. *Aging (Albany NY)* 2, 627–631 (2010).
- 134. Kuonen, F. *et al.* Inhibition of the Kit ligand/c-Kit axis attenuates metastasis in a mouse model mimicking local breast cancer relapse after radiotherapy. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **18**, 4365–4374 (2012).
- 135. Kang, Y., Siegel, P. M., Shu, W., Drobnjak, M. & Kakonen, S. M. A multigenic program mediating breast cancer metastasis to bone. *Cancer Cell* (2003). doi:10.1016/S1535-6108(03)00132-6
- 136. Karmali, P. P. *et al.* Metastasis of tumor cells is enhanced by downregulation of Bit1. *PLoS ONE* **6**, e23840 (2011).
- 137. Kairouz-Wahbe, R. *et al.* Anoikis effector Bit1 negatively regulates Erk activity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **105,** 1528–1532 (2008).
- Mitsushima, M., Ueda, K. & Kioka, N. Involvement of phosphatases in the anchorage-dependent regulation of ERK2 activation. *Exp. Cell Res.* 313, 1830–1838 (2007).
- 139. Wahab, N., Cox, D., Witherden, A. & Mason, R. M. Connective tissue

growth factor (CTGF) promotes activated mesangial cell survival via up-regulation of mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase-1 (MKP-1). *Biochem. J.* **406,** 131–138 (2007).

140. Juric, V., Chen, C. C. & Lau, L. F. TNFα-induced apoptosis enabled by CCN1/CYR61: pathways of reactive oxygen species generation and cytochrome c release. *PLoS ONE* 7, e31303 (2012).

Conferences and Publications

Conferences:

2014	24 th CytoMeet, Bern, Switzerland (Oral presentation)		
2013	5 th International Conference on Tumor-Host Interaction and		
	Angiogenesis, Monte Verità, Ascona, Switzerland		
2013	2 nd Research Day in Medicine, Fribourg, Switzerland		
2012	2012 SmART Symposium: Vascular Progenitors in Biology and		
	Medicine, Fribourg, Switzerland		
2012	1 st Research Day in Medicine, Fribourg, Switzerland		
2011	New Concepts in Cancer Metastasis, Lisbon, Portugal		
2010	4 th International Conference on Tumor-Host Interaction and		
	Angiogenesis, Monte Verità, Ascona, Switzerland		
2008	Experimental Biology, San Diego, USA		
2005	Experimental Biology, San Diego, USA		

Publications:

- 1. **Huang YT**, Lan Q, Rüegg C. CYR61 promotes breast cancer metastasis to lung by facilitating extravasation. *in preparation*.
- Huang YT, Blanquet M, Ponsonnet L, Christofori G, Zaric J, Rüegg C. CYR61 promotes tumor growth and invasion but not angiogenesis in the Rip1Tag2 model. *in preparation*.
- 3. Lan Q, Lorusso G, Duffey N, **Huang YT**, Rüegg C. Mechanisms of chemotherapy-induced tumor dormancy in metastatic breast cancer. *in preparation*.
- Huang J, Che MI, Hung JS, Lin NY, Huang YT, Lin WC, Huang HC, Lee PH, Liang JT, Huang MC. The molecular chaperone Cosmc enhances malignant behaviors of colon cancer cells via activation of Akt and ERK. *Molecular Carcinogenesis*. 2013 Feb 6. doi: 10.1002/mc.22011. [Epub ahead of print]

- Huang J, Che MI, Huang YT, Shyu MK, Huang YM, Wu YM, Lin WC, Huang PH, Liang JT, Lee PH, Huang MC. Overexpression of MUC15 Activates Extracellular Signal–Regulated Kinase 1/2 and Promotes the Oncogenic Potential of Human Colon Cancer Cells. *Carcinogenesis*. 2009 Aug;30(8):1452-8.
- YT Huang, SU Chen, CH Chou, and H Lee. Sphingosine 1-Phosphate Induces Platelet/Endothelial Cell Adhesion Molecule-1 Phosphorylation in Human Endothelial Cells Through cSrc and Fyn. 2008. *Cellular Signaling*, 20(8):1521-7.
- YT Huang, YW Lee, JJ Liao , CI Lin, J. H. Haga, J. Li, and H Lee. Sphingosine 1-Phosphate Induces Platelet/Endothelial Cell Adhesion Molecule-1 Tyrosine Phosphorylation in Bovine Aortic Endothelial Cells through a PP2-Inhibitable Mechanism. 2007. *Taiwania*, 52(4): 324-331.
- YW Lee, JJ Liao, YT Huang, YT Kuo and Lee H. The Expression Profiles of LPLs Receptors in Different Endothelial Cells. 2006. *Taiwania*, 51(1):11-24.
- Liao JJ, Huang YT, Lee H. Inhibitory Effects of Sphingosine 1-Phosphate on Proliferation of PC-3 Human Prostate Cancer Cell. 2005. *Zoological Studies*, 44(2):219-227.

Yu-Ting Huang

Date of Birth : July 8th, 1982 Phone number : +41 78 634 23 59 E-mail : yu-ting.huang@unil.ch yu-ting.huang@unifr.ch

Education				
2009/9-Present	University of Lausanne	Lausanne, Switzerland		
	PhD in Cancer and Immunology			
	Supervisor: Prof. Curzio Rüegg			
	Thesis topic: The role of CYR61 in Cancer Progression and Metastasis Formation			
2005/9-2007/6	National Taiwan University	Taipei, Taiwan		
	M.S. in Zoology			
	Supervisor: Prof. Hsinyu Lee			
	Thesis topic: Studies of the Mechan	isms of Sphingosine 1-phosphate Induces		
	Platelet/Endothelial Cel	l Adhesion Molecule-1 Phosphorylation in		
	Human Endothelial Cells	S		
2000/9-2005/6	National Taiwan University	Taipei, Taiwan		
	B.S. in Life Science			
	Minor in Chemistry			

Publications

Research papers

- 1. **Huang YT**, Lan Q, Rüegg C. CYR61 promotes breast cancer metastasis to lung by facilitating extravasation. *in preparation*.
- 2. **Huang YT**, Blanquet M, Ponsonnet L, Christofori G, Zaric J, Rüegg C. CYR61 promotes tumor growth and invasion but not angiogenesis in the Rip1Tag2 model. *in preparation*.
- 3. Lan Q, Lorusso G, Duffey N, **Huang YT**, Rüegg C. Mechanisms of chemotherapy-induced tumor dormancy in metastatic breast cancer. *in preparation*.
- Huang J, Che MI, Hung JS, Lin NY, Huang YT, Lin WC, Huang HC, Lee PH, Liang JT, Huang MC. The molecular chaperone Cosmc enhances malignant behaviors of colon cancer cells via activation of Akt and ERK. *Molecular Carcinogenesis*. 2013 Feb 6. doi: 10.1002/mc.22011. [Epub ahead of print]
- Huang J, Che MI, Huang YT, Shyu MK, Huang YM, Wu YM, Lin WC, Huang PH, Liang JT, Lee PH, Huang MC. Overexpression of MUC15 Activates Extracellular Signal–Regulated Kinase 1/2 and Promotes the Oncogenic Potential of Human Colon Cancer Cells. *Carcinogenesis*. 2009 Aug;30(8):1452-8.
- 6. **YT Huang**, SU Chen, CH Chou, and H Lee. Sphingosine 1-Phosphate Induces Platelet/Endothelial Cell Adhesion Molecule-1 Phosphorylation in Human Endothelial Cells Through cSrc and Fyn. 2008. *Cellular*

Signaling, 20(8):1521-7.

- YT Huang, YW Lee, JJ Liao, CI Lin, J. H. Haga, J. Li, and H Lee. Sphingosine 1-Phosphate Induces Platelet/Endothelial Cell Adhesion Molecule-1 Tyrosine Phosphorylation in Bovine Aortic Endothelial Cells through a PP2-Inhibitable Mechanism. 2007. *Taiwania*, 52(4): 324-331.
- 8. YW Lee, JJ Liao, **YT Huang**, YT Kuo and Lee H. The Expression Profiles of LPLs Receptors in Different Endothelial Cells. 2006. *Taiwania*, 51(1):11-24.
- Liao JJ, Huang YT, Lee H. Inhibitory Effects of Sphingosine 1-Phosphate on Proliferation of PC-3 Human Prostate Cancer Cell. 2005. *Zoological Studies*, 44(2):219-227.

Conference Presentation:

 Huang YT. CYR61 promotes breast cancer metastasis to lung by facilitating extravasation. 2014. At the 24th CytoMeet, Bern, Switzerland

Conference Abstracts:

- Huang YT and Rüegg C. CYR61 promotes early steps of breast cancer cell metastasis to the lung. 2013. 5th International Conference on Tumor-Host Interaction and Angiogenesis, Monte Verità, Ascona, Switzerland.
- 2. **Huang YT**, Zaric J, Ponsonnet L and Rüegg C. The role of CYR61 in multi-stage tumorigenesis model of mouse pancreatic islet carcinoma. 2012. 1st Research Day in Medicine, Fribourg, Switzerland.
- Huang YT and Lee H. Sphingosine 1-Phosphate Induces Platelet/Endothelial Cell Adhesion Molecule-1 Phosphorylation in Human Endothelial Cells Through cSrc and Fyn. 2008. Experimental Biology, San Diego, USA. FASEB J.22: 964.36.
- 4. Liao JJ, Kuo YT, **Huang YT** and Lee H. Inhibitory effect of sphingosine-1-phosphate on proliferation of PC-3 human prostate cancer cell line. 2005. Experimental Biology, San Diego, USA. *FASEB J*. 19:A1971.
- Lin CI, Huang YT, Kao CY and Lee H. Sphingosine 1-phosphate enhances ICAM-1 expression in human umbilical cord vein endothelial cells through an Edg1-dependent mechanism. 2005. Experimental Biology, San Diego, USA. *FASEB J.* 19:A1268.

Research and Working Experience

2008/8-	Institute of Anatomy and	Institute of Anatomy and Cell Biology, National Taiwan University		
2009/8	Research Assistant	Supervisor: Prof. Min-Chuan Huang		
2007/7-	Angiogenesis Research C	Angiogenesis Research Center, National Taiwan University		
2008/1	Research Assistant	Supervisor: Prof. Hsinyu Lee		
2006/8-	National Taiwan Univers	ity		
2007/1	Teaching Assistant, Unde	Teaching Assistant, Understanding Human Behaviors from Perspectives of Modern Biology		
2006/2-	National Taiwan Univers	ity		
2006/6	Teaching Assistant, Adva	nced Modern Biology		

2005/8-	nstitute of Zoology, National	ite of Zoology, National Taiwan University		
2006/1	eaching Assistant, Animal Hi	ching Assistant, Animal Histology Lab.		
<u>Scholarship</u>	Scholarship for Teach	ing Assistant, 2006/8-2007/1		
	National Taiwa	an University, Taiwan		
	Scholarship for Teach	ing Assistant, 2006/2-2006/6		
	National Taiwa	an University, Taiwan		
	Scholarship for Gradu	Scholarship for Graduate Students, 2005/8-2006/6		
	• Ministry of Ed	ucation, Taiwan		
References				
Dr. Hsinyu Lee	Professor, Department	of Life Science, Institute of Zoology		
	College of Life Science	College of Life Science, National Taiwan University		
	E-mail: hsinyu@ntu.ed	E-mail: hsinyu@ntu.edu.tw, phone: 886-2-33662499		
Dr. Tang-Long	en Associate Professor, De	partment and Institute of Plant Pathology and Microbiology		
	College of Bioresource	College of Bioresources and Agriculture, National Taiwan University		
	E-mail: shentl@ntu.edu	.tw, phone: 886-2-33664602		
Dr. Min-Chuan	ang Professor, Institute of A	Professor, Institute of Anatomy and Cell Biology		
(Dr. rer. nat.)	College of Medicine, N	ational Taiwan University		
	E-mail: mchuang@ntu.	edu.tw, phone: 886-2-23123456 ext. 88177		